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The joint committee met in private session until 9.30 a.m.

Deputy Louise O’Reilly took the Chair.

Evaluating Orphan Drugs: Discussion

Vice Chairman: The purpose of this session is to engage with the HSE and the National 
Centre for Pharmacoeconomics, NCPE, on the processes and criteria used when evaluating 
orphan drugs.  On behalf of the committee I welcome Mr. John Hennessy, Mr. Shaun Flanagan 
and Mr. Ray Mitchell of the HSE; Professor Michael Barry and Dr. Lesley Tilson of the NCPE.

By virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, witnesses are protected by abso-
lute privilege in respect of their evidence to the joint committee.  However, if they are directed 
by it to cease giving evidence on a particular matter and continue to do so, they are entitled 
thereafter only to qualified privilege in respect of their evidence.  They are directed that only 
evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and asked to 
respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, they should not criticise or 
make charges against any person or an entity by name or in such a way as to make him, her or 
it identifiable.  Any submission or opening statement submitted to the committee may be pub-
lished on its website after the meeting.

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the Houses or an of-
ficial, either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.  I now invite Mr. John 
Hennessy to make his opening statement.

Mr. John Hennessy: I thank the committee for the invitation to attend the meeting this 
morning to discuss orphan drugs.  I am joined by my colleagues - Professor Michael Barry, 
clinical director of the National Centre for Pharmacoeconomics, Mr. Shaun Flanagan, chief 
pharmacist in the HSE corporate pharmaceutical unit, Dr. Lesley Tilson from the NCPE and Mr. 
Ray Mitchell from the parliamentary affairs division of the HSE.

The HSE is responsible for the reimbursement of medicines under a number of statutory 
schemes, such as the GMS, general medical services scheme or the medical card scheme, the 
long-term illness scheme and the drugs payment scheme.  With the inclusion of medicines pur-
chased for hospital care, the expenditure on drugs and medicines by the HSE comes to approxi-
mately €2 billion per annum.  That is approximately 13% to 14% of the total health budget.

The legislation which deals with applications for the reimbursement of new medicines is 
the Health (Pricing and Supply of Medical Goods) Act 2013.  This Act requires the HSE to 
consider detailed criteria when making decisions around reimbursement and pricing.  Specifi-
cally, section 19(4) of the Act states: “The Executive shall not make a relevant decision except 
in accordance with the criteria specified in Schedule 3”.  Schedule 3 goes on to list the criteria 
as follows: first, the health needs of the public; second, the cost-effectiveness of meeting health 
needs by supplying the item concerned rather than providing other health services; third, the 
availability and suitability of items for supply or reimbursement; fourth, the proposed costs, 
benefits and risks of the item or listed item relative to therapeutically similar items or listed 
items provided in other health service settings and the level of certainty in relation to the evi-
dence of those costs, benefits and risks; fifth, the potential or actual budget impact of the item 
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or listed item also has to be considered; sixth, the clinical needs for the item; seventh, the ap-
propriate level of clinical supervision required in relation to the item to ensure patient safety; 
eighth, the efficacy or performance in trial, the effectiveness or performance in real situations, 
and added therapeutic benefit against existing standards of treatment, that is, how much better 
it treats a condition than existing therapies; and ninth, the resources available to the HSE to af-
ford the application.

My colleague, Professor Barry, will go through the application process in more detail.  The 
process for dealing with applications for a new medicine typically involves the following stag-
es.  The HSE corporate pharmaceutical unit receives the application from the pharmaceutical 
company, as per section 18(1) of the Act.  The corporate pharmaceutical unit commissions the 
NCPE to conduct a health technology review of the new medicine.  The medicine is subjected 
to a preliminary rapid review.  High-cost products and those with significant budget impact are 
subjected to formal pharmacoeconomic assessment.  Similarly, products where concerns arise 
in relation to value for money are selected for formal pharmacoeconomic assessment.  All such 
assessments are carried out in compliance with published HIQA guidelines.  Companies submit 
a dossier for consideration, that is, the company gets the opportunity to put forward its best 
case for consideration by the NCPE.  Following assessment, a full appraisal report outlining 
the NCPE conclusions and recommendations is sent to the corporate pharmaceutical unit.  The 
appraisal report sets out detailed information on the clinical evidence for the benefits associated 
with or claimed for the new medicine and the robustness of that evidence.

Information is provided on cost-effectiveness and the probability of cost-effectiveness at a 
range of thresholds.  Some examples are provided in the note.  For example, €20,000 per qual-
ity adjusted life year, QALY; €45,000 per QALY; and €100,000 per QALY.  Occasionally even 
higher thresholds are also provided.  Perhaps one of my colleagues will explain the concept of 
a quality adjusted life year as members may not be familiar with the terminology.  In the case 
of oncology drugs a report is also sent to the national cancer control programme, NCCP, for 
consideration under the NCCP therapeutic review process.  The corporate pharmaceutical unit 
leads on any commercial negotiation with the individual pharmaceutical company.

The full assessment report, the outputs of any commercial negotiations and any other rel-
evant information is then considered by the HSE drugs group, which is the expert body in place 
to make recommendations to the HSE leadership team on applications for new medicines.  The 
HSE leadership team or directorate is the final decision-making body on applications.  Fol-
lowing that process the Act requires that the HSE provides a formal notice of any proposed 
decision to the applicant company and requires that the HSE considers any representations 
received from an applicant company in advance of making a formal final decision on pricing 
and reimbursement.

The legislation passed by the Oireachtas in 2013 does not make separate provision for or-
phan drugs.  Consequently, the processes and procedures do not make separate provision for 
distinct criteria on the assessment of orphan drugs.  However, the HSE has in the past been an 
early adopter of new medicines, including in this category, and especially where clear evidence 
of clinical benefits to patients can be demonstrated and value for money assured.  The HSE is 
committed to providing access to as many medicines and other services as possible from within 
the resources available.

Internationally, there appears to be a growing trend towards providing market authorisations 
on the basis of evidence which previously might have been insufficient to support authorisa-
tion.  In parallel, greater responsibilities are also being placed on health services to ensure that 
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cost-effectiveness is clearly considered as part of the assessment process.  The criteria include 
reference to that.  The challenge for reimbursement agencies such as the HSE is that the evi-
dence on efficacy, cost and budget impact is often less than sufficient to determine such cost-
effectiveness.

In addition, the pricing strategy adopted by some pharmaceutical companies adds to the 
challenges, with prices demanded often running to hundreds of thousands of euro per patient 
per annum.  On occasion, these prices can be demanded for medicines for which there may only 
be preliminary clinical information available to support the benefits claimed.  That is leading to 
serious affordability problems for health services in Ireland and internationally.

My colleague, Professor Michael Barry, from the National Centre for Pharmacoeconomics 
will outline further details of the health technology assessment, HTA, process, after which we 
will endeavour to answer any questions the committee may have.

Vice Chairman: I thank Mr. Hennessy and invite Professor Barry to make his opening 
remarks.

Professor Michael Barry: I thank the committee for the opportunity to speak to it today.

The mission of the NCPE is to facilitate health care decisions on the reimbursement of tech-
nologies, usually pharmaceuticals, by applying clinical and scientific evidence in a systematic 
framework, in order to maximise population wellness.  The NCPE considers the clinical ef-
fectiveness and health related quality of life benefits in addition to all relevant costs, including 
costs that arise from savings from reduced health care resource use, for example, hospitalisa-
tion, following the new technology.  We also then try to assess whether the price requested by 
the manufacturer is justified.  The NCPE will then advise the HSE on the cost-effectiveness or 
value for money and the budget impact associated with the specific product.

A medicinal product is designated as an orphan medicinal product if it is intended for the 
diagnosis, prevention or treatment of life threatening conditions affecting no more than five in 
10,000 persons in the European Union at the time of submission of the designation applica-
tion.  The NCPE has a standardised process and criteria for the evaluation of pharmaceutical 
products, including orphan drugs.  All assessments are conducted in accordance with published 
health technology assessment, HTA, guidelines issued by the Health Information and Quality 
Authority, HIQA.  These guidelines were first developed in 2010 and updated in 2014.  They 
are available on the HIQA website.

The NCPE HTA process is well established and usually commences when the relevant phar-
maceutical company receives notification from the HSE corporate pharmaceutical unit, HSE-
CPU, of the requirement for a rapid review.  A rapid review is a quick look, as it were, at the 
benefits and otherwise of the medication, to assess if we must examine it in more detail.  The 
manufacturer submits the rapid review document, and the template is available on our website.  
That will include a range of information, for example, the regulatory status, the clinical condi-
tion, the proposed licensed indication, anticipated place in therapy, comparators, clinical evi-
dence, safety, efficacy in addition to economic considerations.  It is a wide range of information.  
The NCPE reviews this document within four weeks, and we usually are on time with that, to 
determine whether a full pharmaco-economic assessment  is required.  If it is not required the 
medication is usually reimbursed.  The data from 2010 to 2015, which was published recently, 
shows that approximately 50% of products do not require a full assessment and therefore go 
straight through to reimbursement.  That means 50% will have to be looked at in detail.
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If a full pharmaco-economic assessment is required the manufacturer is asked to submit a 
full dossier to the NCPE.  The application forms are on the website.  A full HTA investigates in 
detail the value for money proposition associated with medications.  Orphan drugs are assessed 
in the same way as other medications.  The assessment includes a description of the relevant 
condition, its management and a detailed outline of the intervention under assessment.  The 
clinical evidence supporting the efficacy of the product is reviewed.  The manufacturer is re-
quired to outline in detail the health economics relating to the product and provide an estimate 
of the incremental cost-effectiveness of the drug, in other words, what the added benefit is for 
the increased cost associated with that product.   A budget impact analysis is also required in 
respect of the cost-effectiveness analysis.

The HTA submission process also facilitates submissions by patient groups who wish to 
have their views taken into consideration.  The patient group submission template is also avail-
able on the NCPE website.  Having reviewed all the available documentation the NCPE sub-
mits its report to the HSE corporate pharmaceutical unit following a check for factual accuracy 
by the manufacturer.  The manufacturer gets our report before we send it to the HSE to ensure 
that we are factually correct.

Examples of orphan drugs that have been considered by the NCPE include: agalsidase 
alpha, Replagal, and agalsidase beta, Fabrazyme, for Fabry disease; eculizumab, Soliris, for 
paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnoea and haemolytic uremic syndrome; ivacaftor and Orkambi for 
cystic fibrosis; elosulfase alpha, Vimizim, for Morquio A syndrome; human alpha 1 proteinase 
inhibitor, Respreeza, for emphysema in adults with documented alpha 1 proteinase inhibitor 
deficiency; and more recently migalastat, Galafold, for Fabry disease.

The HSE-CPU will forward the NCPE report and any other relevant information to the HSE 
drugs group.  The final decision on reimbursement of any drug, including orphan drugs, is made 
by the HSE, not the NCPE.

Vice Chairman: Thank you.  Six members of the committee have already indicated they 
wish to put questions.  We will take them in batches of three.  That is not an ideal system so I 
ask the witnesses to take a note so they can reply to everybody.  This is a detailed subject and 
we can take our time and get the answers.  However, when the questioners are in batches some-
times the first questioner does not get their replies, so I ask the witnesses to take a detailed note 
of the questions.  I call Senator Colm Burke.

Senator  Colm Burke: I thank the witnesses for attending the meeting and giving us the 
detailed presentation.  This is a complex area.  My opening question relates to the population of 
Ireland and the overall cost of medications compared to other jurisdictions.  Is there any com-
parison for what pharmaceuticals are costing us per head of population?  The witness referred 
to a budget of approximately €2 billion per annum.  How are we doing per head of population 
compared to other jurisdictions?

Second, I understand that there are approximately 158 different orphan drugs and that in 
Germany 133 of them are in use, whereas in Ireland only approximately 50 of them are in use 
or have been sanctioned for reimbursement.  Why is there such a gap between what has been 
approved for use in Germany and what has been approved for use here?

The third issue relates to legislation we passed in 2013 on the use of generic drugs, which 
Mr. Hennessy mentioned.  What savings have been made as a result of that legislation?  What 
progress have we made in that regard?  If we can save in one area obviously there is more fund-
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ing available to deal with an issue such as orphan drugs.

My final question is on working with other countries.  I made a comparison with Germany.  
The advantage Germany has is its population.  An orphan drug might only be of benefit to 20 
people in Ireland but it might be of benefit to 2,000 people in Germany, therefore Germany is in 
a far better negotiating position.  Has there been thought about tying in with other jurisdictions 
with regard to carrying out a negotiation and getting a far fairer deal in that process?

Again, I thank the witnesses for their presentation and the work they are doing.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I, too, thank the witnesses for their contributions.  I wish to follow 
up on Senator Colm Burke’s remarks.  It appears that there is evidence of some type of scandal, 
moral or otherwise, here.  We have the ironic situation that drugs that are sometimes manufac-
tured here are available to people in other EU countries, and reimbursed by their governments, 
but they are not available to patients in Ireland.  Can the witnesses explain what is at the root of 
the differentials?  Ireland ranks extremely low compared with Germany, as Senator Colm Burke 
mentioned, France, England, Italy and Spain when one compares the access to orphan medical 
products.  The figures show that 53 of the 148 licensed products are routinely available in Ire-
land.  That is approximately one third.  Far more of such treatments are available in Germany.  
Noting the irony that some of these drugs might well be manufactured in Ireland, what is the 
fundamental reason for that?

To move on from that, there is an EU regulation on orphan medicinal products.  Is there a 
need to move to a European standard or a harmonisation where we accept drugs that are ac-
cepted, made available and funded in one member state for people who are in the very disad-
vantageous situation of having a rare disease?  It is therefore much more difficult to do the types 
of tests for cost-effectiveness involving these people.  Should we be moving towards a kind of 
harmonisation and an acknowledgement that if a medicine is available in other states, it ought 
to be available here?  Through the State-funded National Treatment Purchase Fund, people are 
able to access treatments unavailable in Ireland.  It should follow that if licensed, proven medi-
cal products are available to people in other European countries, they should be available here.

The failure to progress aspects of the national rare disease plan is at the root of this issue.  
The plan dates back to 2014 and envisages a pathway for the assessment of the orphan medici-
nal products.  What is the reason for the delay?  Could the witnesses give a timeline for the 
activation of relevant sections of the plan in order that this problem can be tackled?

It is not just a matter of fewer products being approved.  There is also a much greater delay 
for people to access new orphan therapies.  It takes 50% longer than for traditional medicines.  
That adds to the unfairness faced by those suffering from rare diseases who, in many cases, will 
have a very short lifespan.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I thank the witnesses for their attendance.  The first issue about 
which I am concerned is the profitability of orphan drugs.  While I do not have it to hand, a re-
cent article in the Financial Times showed a surge in profitability for investors in orphan drugs.  
Although the ratio of orphan drugs to mainstream drugs is approximately five to 10,0000, there 
may be a risk that investors will move to invest in orphan drugs and that general drugs for the 
bulk of the population will be somewhat neglected and progress in treatment of common dis-
eases will be halted.  Have the witnesses any comment on that possibility?

Senator Colm Burke mentioned savings in regard to generic versions of drugs.  I am a phar-



12 July 2017

7

macist by profession.  When I qualified 13 or 14 years ago and returned to Ireland from the UK, 
there were practically no generic drugs available here and pharmacists were precluded from 
substituting.  That has since changed.  At the time I qualified, a box of Lipitor cost approxi-
mately €110 whereas a generic version of it now costs approximately €10.  However, when one 
compares the saving achieved there to the cost incurred through funding an orphan drug for one 
person, there is no overall saving.  Savings achieved through the use of generic drugs will never 
compensate for the cost of orphan drugs.

There are huge global variations in the price for hepatitis treatments.  How does a company 
that has produced a drug, trialled it, done all the work on it and spent all the money on it justify 
the price differences?  How can we ask to these companies why it costs one fiftieth of the Irish 
price in Ethiopia?  How can that be managed to the benefit of the Irish people?

I am delighted that people have received Orkambi.  Ireland has a unique relationship with 
cystic fibrosis and a unique solution therefore had to be found.  However, the annual cost of 
Orkambi is approximately €300 million, which is equivalent to the cost of building the new 
maternity hospital.  I may be wrong, but I understand the annual cost of treating patients receiv-
ing Orkambi is the same as building a new maternity hospital every year.  I am concerned------

Senator  Rónán Mullen: The State will be lucky if it builds the new maternity hospital for 
that cost.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I am concerned by the overall effect of that on HSE budgets.  
Would it be possible for drug purchasing to be completely separated from HSE budgets in order 
that there is not a constant pull and it could be isolated in order to track spending in that regard?

Is there any role for extended patents?  Nine years was the period for patents.  Is that period 
still being extended in order to allow companies recoup their costs in order that the effect on the 
Exchequer can be spread over a longer period of time?  There should be little need for a generic 
version of an orphan drug because the population base is not big enough.  Is there any sense in 
giving companies an extended patent because there will not be a generic version of the drug and 
therefore spreading the cost over a few decades rather than one?

Could any of the witnesses address the savings and workings of the Irish Pharmaceutical 
Healthcare Association, IPHA, framework agreement on the supply of medicines to the public 
health services and the effect it is having in regard to hospital budgets?

Vice Chairman: A broad range of questions has been asked.  I ask witnesses to do their best 
to answer.  The asking of questions in batches is not ideal but it is the procedure of the commit-
tee.  I ask witnesses to try to answer all questions posed.

Mr. John Hennessy: We will attempt to do so.  I will rely on my colleagues to provide some 
finer details.

Senator Colm Burke asked about the population issue and whether our prescribing levels 
and costs are comparatively high.  That has traditionally been the case and our average costs 
and expenditure on medicines per head of population have been comparatively high.  Whether 
that is currently the case is less certain.  The situation may be changing.  The previous Joint 
Committee on Health published a good report in 2015 that analysed this issue in detail.  The 
changes that have occurred since then are mainly related to the switch to generic medicines, as 
mentioned by members, which has had an effect on average costs.  Some of my colleagues may 
be able to provide further detail on that issue.
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I ask Mr. Flanagan to address the issue of the difference in how Germany deals with applica-
tions for new drugs compared to other jurisdictions.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: The cost of orphan drugs is automatically reimbursed in Germany.  
There is no assessment or review and the drug is just paid for.  That is how Germany is differ-
ent in that regard.  Ireland has a different legislative framework which requires that the criteria 
that Mr. Hennessy has previously set out be considered.  The Germans automatically pay for 
orphan drugs.

I am not familiar with the figure of 158 orphan drugs that Senator Colm Burke asked about.  
I recently downloaded information from the European Medicines Agency and thought it men-
tioned a figure of less than 100 orphan drugs but I am open to correction on that.  It is not a 
very recent work.  I am happy to deal with any query in that regard when I have had a chance 
to examine the issue further following the meeting.

In regard to savings from generic drugs, €250 million has been saved since 2013 under the 
reference pricing generic substitution programme in the Health Act.

In terms of international negotiation, my colleagues in the Department of Health are not in 
attendance but they made efforts to engage with international colleagues in relation to negotia-
tion during the year-long process in regard to Orkambi.  It was difficult to get countries to align 
on the same criteria for all to agree on the decision point.  The Department is continuing to 
engage internationally on that issue to try to get involved in international co-operations.  That is 
actively being worked on.  I should not speak for the Department but I am aware it is progress-
ing that issue.

In terms of international comparisons, as Mr. Hennessy said, the OECD publishes data sets 
regarding purchasing price parities and the cost of medicines reimbursed per patient on an an-
nual basis.  As the purpose of today’s meeting is mainly to deal with rare diseases, I did not 
research this particular issue beforehand.  I think the most recent data is from 2013 or 2014 
and Ireland was at the top in terms of spending per patient.    Those figures did not capture the 
impact of the Health Act.  Nor did they capture the fact that prior to 2005 and the setting up of 
the HSE, the State never challenged pharmaceutical companies on new drugs.  At one level, 
one could argue that prior to the introduction of these processes we were price takers.  We are 
no longer price takers.  We seek to aggressively negotiate with pharmaceutical companies when 
they bring a new drug to market because we know we have a limited budget.  The only way we 
can spread the budget as far as possible is to get the best price we possibly can for every new 
drug.  I assume that is the reason why the Oireachtas requires us to consider cost-effectiveness 
and budget impacts. 

Senator Mullen raised the issue of harmonisation and negotiations.  One of the big chal-
lenges for harmonisation of decision-making is that not every country may be able to afford the 
same levels of investment.  If a country is signing up to German levels of involvement, it must 
sign up to German levels of investment.  Whether Ireland has those resources available to it as 
a State is a question I clearly cannot answer.  It is a political question rather than a HSE one.  

On the national disease plan, in terms of moving and changing the assessment processes 
around new drugs, as a public servant I would say the Health Act is clear.  It has not made any 
changes that allow the HSE in any way to treat orphan drugs any differently to other drugs.  If 
the view of the Oireachtas is strongly that there should be a separate process, there will be a 
requirement for legislative change.  It is something we have to say.  In terms of the 50% longer 
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than usual delay in time on orphan drugs, there is no doubt orphan drugs are more challenging 
for an assessment body to consider.  As the levels of evidence are on occasion less robust than 
they are for other medicines, they present challenges for decision-making bodies but they also 
come with significant budget impacts.  Orkambi was for a rare disease but it came with a budget 
impact worth hundreds of millions over five years.  Decisions to fund such drugs have implica-
tions for the rest of the service.  Those are decisions that have to be made carefully after robust 
engagement from pharmaceutical companies on the price and offering they have made.  

I will keep going down through the list of questions.

Mr. John Hennessy: I might deal with the savings issue to give Mr. Shaun Flanagan a 
chance to draw breath.  I might ask Professor Barry to elaborate a bit more on the rare disease 
plan as well.

Senator Colm Burke and Deputy O’Connell raised issues about savings and what has been 
achieved under the 2013 legislation.  I will give the committee a flavour of that.  The big change 
in the 2013 legislation was the enabling of reference pricing.  To date, more than 40 products 
have been reference-priced in Ireland with price reductions of up to 90% achieved on many of 
the commonly prescribed items.  The overall savings achieved under reference pricing to date 
since the Act was commenced are in excess of €120 million.  Generic prescribing, where it is 
appropriate and empowered, is in excess of 70% compared with approximately 30% as recently 
as five years ago.  

On the various price agreements with the pharmaceutical industry, our calculation of cost 
reduction and cost saved in the period from 2006 to date is €1.5 billion.  The current agreement, 
which is scheduled to run to 2020, is expected to produce savings in excess of €600 million by 
our calculations.  While IPHA companies will assess it as being slightly higher than that, we 
assess it at about €600 million.

Vice Chairman: Could Mr. Hennessy explain the difference between the two different as-
sessments and how IPHA’s figure is different from the HSE’s?

Mr. John Hennessy: I wish I could.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: I can try to answer that.  The HSE looks at the reimbursed market; 
I am guessing the IPHA looks at the entire market.  The HSE does not pay for every medicine 
in the State.  I am assuming the IPHA estimates take account of the fact that their companies 
are taking a hit of that amount in the private market.  That may contribute to some of the dif-
ference.  There are two savings that are arrived at independently.  IPHA did its bit and the HSE 
did its bit.  Clearly, the HSE would always have to be conservative and absolutely certain that it 
will deliver what it says it delivers because it has implications for health pricing.  It might very 
well be in another party’s interest to be conservative the other way.  Both parties will always be 
conservative within their own constraints and decision-making.  There is a public market and 
there is a private prescription market as well and IPHA companies will take a hit there from 
price reductions.  There is no doubt about that.

Vice Chairman: Senator Burke wants to come back in at this point.

Senator  Colm Burke: On generic drugs, are the witnesses telling me that in the past three 
years, there has really only been a saving of less than 10%?  It is €2 billion per annum and if we 
take €120 million out, is that €120 million over three years or €120 million per annum?  If it is 
€120 million per annum then it is a minute saving of around 8% out of €2 billion.
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Mr. Shaun Flanagan: It is important to remember that 70% of the HSE spend is on medi-
cines from monopoly suppliers.  Generic substitution cannot help in a scenario where monopoly 
suppliers are available.  There can only be generic substitution in an area where there are com-
petitive companies.

Senator  Colm Burke: In real terms then, we are making no progress on drug cost savings 
for the HSE.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: I addressed the challenge in my initial responses to the Senator’s 
question.  There are two good points at which we can impact on the cost of medicines.  The first 
is on introduction, because we control when we put it on and ultimately control the price in a 
negotiation.  The learning historically is if one does not challenge companies when one intro-
duces medicine, one pays for that over a decade or longer while the company has patent control.  
Within our medicine containment policies, an essential part is we must challenge companies 
when they are applying for reimbursement.  We must do our best to attack unreasonable and 
unfair pricing.  If we do not do that, we will be left in a scenario in which we are overpaying 
for medicines for a decade.

The second point is when a medicine goes off patent.  There is then an opportunity because 
suddenly competitors come in.  The competitors can be leveraged in and within that the refer-
ence pricing and generic substitution can impact.  Within the agreement, as we moved from 
2006 to 2016, we moved from a scenario where we had a five-country basket to one where there 
is an average of 14 countries, which is very close to what the previous committee recommend-
ed.  That basket now includes countries such as Portugal, Italy and Greece, which are low-price 
countries.  That impacts on the price of the medicines that are coming to us and has a long-term 
life cycle impact on the price of medicines.  We have made very good efforts to reduce the cost 
of medicines both at the start and at all the trigger points where we have leverage.  There can 
always be improvements.  

Senator  Colm Burke: My problem is that per head of population, we are paying far more 
than an awful lot of other EU jurisdictions.  When one goes back to the German situation, the 
Germans are not paying out the price the pharmaceutical companies are asking for because they 
can strike a very good bargain because they are dealing with a bigger population.  We seem to 
be coming out of the wrong end when we are negotiating for orphan drugs because we have far 
fewer numbers who can benefit from the medication so the drug companies are very much in 
the driving seat.  It is a huge problem.  It is a case of trying to find a solution.

Vice Chairman: The Senator has made that point.  Can we resume going back through the 
questions and then the Senator will have an opportunity-----

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Can the answer given to me also be clarified please?

Vice Chairman: Okay, that is fair.

Mr. John Hennessy: I do not agree with Senator Colm Burke and his conclusion because 
very considerable progress has been made on generic substitution.  It is constrained, as Mr. 
Shaun Flanagan mentioned.  Products have to be declared interchangeable in order for generic 
substitution to apply.  Anybody who regularly purchases some commonly prescribed drugs and 
medicines will have seen the vast change that has occurred in the cost over the past three years.

On the point about the international dimension, which was mentioned by Senators Colm 
Burke and Mullen, the Minister, Deputy Harris, and the Department of Health have been mak-
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ing considerable progress on this with colleagues within the European Union.  The size of 
the Irish population and the jurisdiction are factors and perhaps opportunities of scale can be 
achieved by collaborating with other smaller States.  It is at preliminary stages.  Progress is 
being made and this clearly represents an opportunity for smaller states with smaller popula-
tions.  This is probably still in its early stages, however.  Part of that agenda would presumably 
facilitate the adaption of certain European standards.  There might also be possible economies 
of scale with regard to assessments, as these could be carried out on a collaborative rather than 
an individual basis with each member state.

I will ask Professor Barry to come in at this point to talk about some of issues around rare 
diseases and the rare disease plan, with particular regard to the time involved in assessing and 
processing applications for new drugs.

Professor Michael Barry: Our assessment process has been in operation for approximately 
19 years now.  There is no doubt, however, that things have changed significantly in recent 
years.  In 2012, we looked at about 20 products between rapid reviews and full HTAs.  This year 
that figure will amount to 70 or more, which has been the case for the past three years.  We are 
seeing an avalanche of newer, high-cost medicines.  We are about to assess our first product to 
cost €1 million per patient per year.  That gives the committee an idea of the challenges we face.

It is important to consider that, because of the NCPE process and the subsequent follow-up 
with the HSE, we are regularly able to achieve price reductions on products of between 20% 
and 50%.  That is money that is now available to go into other areas in the health service.

Deputy O’Connell spoke about the cost of orphan drugs.  As I mentioned, we are now facing 
our first drug to cost €1 million per patient per year.  I do not know where these costs arise from 
so I cannot say if they are justified.  That is what we are dealing with.

Orphan diseases are, by definition, rare but taken together they are not so rare.  More than 
50% of our current assessments are for orphan drugs, while a total of 80% are for orphan and 
cancer drugs.  That should point to where the major areas lie.  Matters are growing more com-
plex because these are new biological medicines rather than the simple molecules we used to 
deal with before.  Getting back to rare diseases, I am aware of the rare diseases plan and of rec-
ommendation No. 30 in particular, which highlights whether we can carry out the assessment 
process for orphan drugs in a better way.  The answer to that is yes, we can always improve our 
processes.  With that in mind, we are establishing a rare diseases technology review committee.  
I was asked to chair this and I agreed to do so in June of this year.  The idea is that this commit-
tee would look not only at the methodologies for assessing orphan drugs but also at the views of 
patients, caregivers and at the wider societal issues that go into health technology assessment.  
We are only just in the process of establishing this committee but it is a welcome development.

Mr. John Hennessy: In response to some of the points raised by Deputy O’Connell, I will 
now ask Mr. Flanagan to discuss the issues around prioritising rare conditions over more com-
mon ones, the justification for the cost factors, and the extension of patents for rare diseases.  I 
would also like to clarify that while cystic fibrosis medicines are certainly extremely expensive, 
they do not quite amount to the annual cost of running a maternity hospital.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Can I just come in to clarify a few matters?

Vice Chairman: Very briefly, Senator Mullen.  Other people are also trying to get in.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I understand that and I will be very brief.  Is Mr. Flanagan say-
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ing that legislation would be needed to activate the OMP assessment pathway envisaged in the 
2014 national rare disease plan?  If not, are there any remaining obstacles?  Is there unfinished 
work set out in the plan that ought to have been completed by now?  Were Ireland to match 
Germany in the provision of orphan medicines at the same price currently paid by the Germans, 
do the witnesses have an estimate as to how much that might cost?

Vice Chairman: I am going to ask Senator Mullen to hold his questions for now because 
other members have indicated and I know they are under time pressure.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I will be brief because both of my questions have already been asked.  
It is not like me to be brief, Chairman.

Vice Chairman: I did not say that.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I thank the witnesses from both bodies for their honesty in answering 
our questions, as this is obviously a very emotional topic.  I will digress here slightly.  There 
are media reports out today about the drug Entresto.  The issues around this particular drug 
have been talked about for some time now.  Seeing as they are here with us today, perhaps the 
witnesses will clarify the situation because we need to get to the bottom of this and this is a 
life-changing drug.  On what date did the NCPE pass Entresto?  When did the HSE receive that 
recommendation?  When did the HSE pass that recommendation on to the Minister?  Is it true 
that it took ten months, and if so, why?  Is it true that the HSE claims it cannot afford Entresto?  
If that is the case, that is fine, but it means the Minister must make a decision on this.  A total of 
nine drugs were passed together and the Minister said that they would cost approximately €120 
million, although I do not want to misquote him here.  Of those nine drugs, is it true that this 
drug is cost-effective?  If it is, that differentiates it from everything else.

The figures I have gone through indicate the cost of the drug amounts to less than €5 a day, 
adding up to approximately €1,700 a year per patient.  We are looking at approximately 20,000 
patients.  The real issue for me is that the average cost for someone who has to go into hospital 
with cardiac problems amounts to approximately €8,700 a year.  We get figures all the time at 
this committee.  The differential here amounts to more than €6,000, meaning that the new drug 
is cost-effective.  It has been passed across a whole range of other European countries and has 
also been passed at rapid speed across all states in the US, which is in itself quite unusual.  Not 
alone will this drug help approximately 20,000 patients in Ireland change their lives, it will also 
save the taxpayer money.  I ask the witnesses to tell me please if I am wrong on any of this.  
We need to get to the bottom of what is going on here, so we need the dates of when this was 
passed, why the HSE took ten months if this is in fact true, whether it has been referred on to the 
Minister, whether the witnesses have any awareness of where the matter stands, and whether it 
is cost-effective and life-changing compared with other drugs.

When the HSE says it cannot afford certain drugs, it can pass the matter on to the Minister to 
make a decision.  I understand the Minister’s situation and the difficulty around having to fund 
a range of different drugs.  A package of nine drugs has supposedly been referred on to him.  If 
there a serious cost attached to these drugs, that has to be taken into consideration.  What I want 
to tease out, however, is if the differential involved makes the drug cost-effective and it will 
help 20,000 people, why did it take so long, from July of last year to May of this year, for the 
HSE to pass this on to the Minister on the grounds that it could not afford it?  Why did this take 
ten months?  How many people in this country have been affected by this, and possibly even 
have died, while this vacuum has been in place?
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Deputy  John Brassil: I welcome the witnesses and thank them for attending the meeting.  
I have some general questions. We have heard that approximately 14% of the health budget is 
spent on drugs.  Could we get a breakdown of how much of that 14% is spent on high-tech or 
orphan drugs in order that we can make comparisons?  Could Professor Barry tell us where we 
lie in comparison with other EU countries on drug spend and high-tech drug spend?  The Ger-
man model has been mentioned.  Once a drug has been approved by the European Medicines 
Agency, EMA, it is available and the price is negotiated.  A drug would often be paid for at a 
specific rate and between ten and 18 months later a price would be agreed and the company 
would reimburse the state any overpayment.  German people and governments are known for 
their efficiency.  A model based on that one would be well worth considering, even if we need 
legislation to introduce it.  We need to do something about orphan drugs.  There are many pa-
tients with different conditions who are as deserving of care as any other citizen and we have a 
responsibility to provide that. 

How many people work in Professor Barry’s office full time to back him up in the important 
work he does?  How often do they meet to decide on specific drugs?  Deputy Kelly referred to 
delays and the feedback we get is that it takes a long time to get a decision over the line.  If that 
has to be reviewed the process takes an inordinate length of time.  When Professor Barry started 
out he was considering 20 proposals a year, now he is considering 70.  Have his resources in-
creased in the same proportion?  If not they should.  Those issues are interlinked.

A compelling case has been made to me about Respreeza-Alpha 1.  One of my constituents 
has the condition and I have met others who are on the drug and those who are not.  Even speak-
ing to people a doctor could tell automatically if a person was taking it.  The difference in their 
quality of life is huge.  I cannot stress enough the importance of getting that drug over the line.  
When will the decision be made on that? 

Does Professor Barry interact with, and refer back to, the many patient advocacy groups?  
They do a great deal of valuable hard work and I sometimes get the impression that when a 
decision is made, the drug company is informed and they are left out of the loop.  That needs to 
be corrected.  All advocacy groups need to be kept as fully informed as possible.

Senator  Keith Swanick: I concur with many of the points my colleague mentioned, par-
ticularly in respect of Respreeza.  It is bad enough to have a chronic obstructive pulmonary dis-
order, COPD, condition due to smoking but it is a terrible condition to have as a result of alpha-
1-antitrypsin deficiency.  I would also like a timeline for when that product may be available.

I know there was some discrepancy about the savings mentioned.  Approximately €150 mil-
lion in savings was mentioned since the agreement with the Irish Pharmaceutical Healthcare 
Association, IPHA in August 2016.  Since then only 11 medications have been approved for 
reimbursement.  That seems a low figure.  Can we do better?  I take on board what Professor 
Barry said about dealing with 20 drugs in 2012 compared with 70 now.  Does the National Cen-
tre for Pharmacoeconomics, NCP, need more resources?  

The important point to remember about rare diseases is that they have very high mortality 
rates.  Up to 30% of the kids with these diseases die before they reach the age of five.  Treat-
ment exists for only 5% of these patients.  I understand that it can take up to 50% longer for 
orphan drugs to go through the process of reimbursement, even up to two years.  The national 
rare disease plan identified the current process as disadvantaging orphan drugs.  Are the HSE 
and the NCP tracking the time taken to reimburse medicines, orphan or traditional, from the 
initial application to the final decision and do they know the orphan status of the drug and the 
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clinical data implications associated with such small patient populations when assessing the 
applications?

Vice Chairman: A point was raised about reimbursement and figures that I got in response 
to a parliamentary question indicate that there are nine drugs that have cleared the hurdle and 
await approval of some form from the Health Service Executive, HSE.  That ties in with many 
of the questions being asked this morning.  People who watch this process closely do not do it 
for fun.  They do it because they have a vested interest in it because it affects a loved one.  The 
questions about the nine drugs are similar.  There are hurdles in place but when one thinks they 
are cleared the drug ends up on the Minister’s desk or the HSE list which is approved but not 
reimbursed.  Can the witnesses tell us, for the sake of those watching, particularly in respect 
of Respreeza, that when the hurdles have been cleared there will not be another hurdle or that 
the approval will not simply sit on someone else’s desk while people are in desperate circum-
stances.

Mr. John Hennessy: We will try our best to answer the questions and I will refer certain 
aspects to colleagues.  We are very conscious of this and have huge sympathy for the patients 
caught in the middle of a dreadful situation.  These patients and their families are desperate for 
solutions.

At the same time we have to strike a balance in that we must comply with legislation which 
obliges us to proceed or pursue a particular process.  Unfortunately, that process takes time.  
There are some extremely difficult tests to be passed to determine clinical effectiveness and af-
fordability, which is a hard reality.  The legislation sets out the rules we must follow.  We have 
to follow it.  The majority of applications get through and get approval, but we have to have 
regard to the resourcing and the availability of funding.  Some previous speakers mentioned 
drug approvals this year.  Six or seven new drugs have been approved already this year and are 
in reimbursement schemes.  Approximately nine from the first half of the year will require ad-
ditional resourcing to bring them into a reimbursement scheme.

Vice Chairman: I ask Mr. Hennessy to be very specific and not vague.  When he says that 
we will require additional resourcing, is he saying that, as we sit here, the money is not avail-
able to fund these, so those people who are waiting for those nine drugs may as well forget wait-
ing, because there is no point and that is not going to happen?  Is it going to happen?  Saying 
that there is a funding issue is not what people want to hear.  They want to hear an answer in a 
fairly definitive way.

Mr. John Hennessy: I appreciate that, but the investment required for those particular nine 
drugs is €120 million over five years.  That is a major investment.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Some €120 million over five years for all nine?

Mr. John Hennessy: Correct.  I think, in fairness, it will require some time to secure the 
resources to afford to do that even where we would be keen and anxious to do it and where those 
clinical-effectiveness and affordability tests have been passed.

Vice Chairman: Presumably they have passed the clinical-effectiveness tests at this point.

Mr. John Hennessy: They have.

Vice Chairman: The clinical-effectiveness test is not an issue.  The issue then is the €120 
million over five years.
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Mr. John Hennessy: The issue is affordability, yes.

Vice Chairman: And that is all that it is?

Mr. John Hennessy: Correct.

Vice Chairman: Does Mr. Hennessy have any indication of whether it in the HSE’s plans, 
budgets or is any movement going to be made in this regard, or will those nine drugs simply sit 
waiting?  When Mr. Hennessy talks about effectiveness, outcomes and such, all of those hurdles 
have been cleared and now we find ourselves with nine drugs sitting somewhere in some sort of 
funding-related limbo which they may never get out of; Mr. Hennessy certainly does not seem 
very hopeful, unless I am misreading it.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Ultimately, is this a matter for the Department of Health?

Mr. John Hennessy: The honest position on this is that we have multiple demands on the 
health service, which I am sure the committee hears about all the time.  This is one.  There are 
many others.  We go through an estimates process to secure resources in order to proceed with 
those and that is the position with regard-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I asked a very specific question.  Ultimately, the NCPE has passed 
these nine drugs.  It would cost €120 million over five years, and I thank Mr. Hennessy for clari-
fying that.  The NCPE has gone through its process and the HSE has gone through its process.  
The matter is now sitting on the Minister’s desk.  This is not a political attack and I ask that 
it not be taken that way.  I know Mr. Hennessy has to do his job and is representing the HSE, 
which reports to the Minister.  Ultimately, is the scenario that these are on the Minister’s desk, 
and it is up to him, working with his officials, to make difficult decisions with regard to funding 
some of these?  If that is the case, will Mr. Hennessy answer my question, which is that the drug 
I refer to, Entresto, which was passed by the NCPE-----

Vice Chairman: There is a large number of questions that the witnesses have to get through, 
and we will make sure that they are answered.  I am conscious that there is another group of 
three, and one more Deputy indicating.  We will go back to the questions.  I ask the witnesses 
to focus on very specific answers.

Deputy  Michael Healy-Rae: On a point of order, how do the witnesses put a price on our 
lives?  That is the question.

Vice Chairman: I ask the Deputy to hold his questions until we have a rota in operation.

Mr. John Hennessy: I think my colleagues will be able to help with the issue of putting a 
price on a life.  We do not put prices on people’s lives.  I will not go into the specifics of any 
individual medicine because I am conscious that these medicines are going through a formal 
process, and a process of communication is required under the legislation with the companies.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is not acceptable.  I asked a specific question and I want an an-
swer.

Mr. John Hennessy: I am not going to speak to a particular named drug in this forum.  We 
have a process under legislation that we have to follow, and that requires communication with 
the pharmaceutical company.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is not acceptable.
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Vice Chairman: I do not believe that there is anything in legislation that precludes Mr. 
Hennessy from answering the specific question that was asked.

Mr. John Hennessy: I am answering the question but I will not be referring to a specific 
drug.

Vice Chairman: A specific drug was referred to, so, verbal gymnastics aside, I do not know 
how Mr. Hennessy is going to be able to answer the question without addressing the drug.  It 
was Deputy Kelly’s question and related to a specific drug.

Mr. John Hennessy: I can address the question without referring to a specific drug.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: As long as the answer is about that drug and Mr. Hennessy does not 
name it, that is fine.

Mr. John Hennessy: There were nine products that I mentioned earlier that have been con-
sidered and have been through the formal process of assessment by the drugs committee and the 
leadership team.  They all represent additional resourcing requirements, including in the current 
year.  That resourcing is not in place in the 2017 HSE service plan, and additional resourcing 
will have to be found in order to proceed with implementation.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Mr. Hennessy still has not answered the question.

Mr. John Hennessy: I think I have.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Mr. Hennessy has not.  Is this a cost-effective drug as recommended 
by the NCPE?  If so, in that scenario, is that unique?  Why has it not been funded?

Mr. John Hennessy: In order to come through the assessment process, they all have to be 
deemed cost-effective, not necessarily by NCPE, but by the drugs committee.  They have to be 
recommended for reimbursement, on balance, between effectiveness-----

Vice Chairman: The answer to that question is that this drug is cost-effective, then.

Mr. John Hennessy: Will the Vice Chairman repeat the question?

Vice Chairman: I was surmising that part of the answer to the question is that the drug is 
cost effective.  We can tick that box, that it is cost-effective.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Is Mr. Hennessy saying that every drug recommended by NCPE is 
cost-effective?

Mr. John Hennessy: I ask Professor Barry to answer that.

Professor Michael Barry: Drugs can come through-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Professor Barry does not work for the HSE, so maybe he might elabo-
rate on the questions that I asked, because they do not always have to be answered by the HSE.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: I think it is important that we all understand the difference between 
cost-effective and cost-saving.  Cost effective means that, in the course of normal events, it is 
a reasonable additional investment to make.  It does not mean that there is a net saving to the 
HSE.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Fair enough.
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Mr. Shaun Flanagan: That is the first thing.  The matter of drugs within the HSE is not a 
binary cost-effective “Yes” or “No” test.  There is a list of seven criteria which the HSE has to 
consider.  The HSE has to balance the magnitude of a clinical effect, of cost-effectiveness, of the 
budget impact and of the unmet need, and has to try to arrive at a blended decision for a drug.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Is this cost-effective?

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: It is a statement of fact - the NCPE website report is there - that En-
tresto is on the NCPE website as meeting the cost-effectiveness test, if one accepts that the cost-
effectiveness test has a result of €45,000 per quality-adjusted life year.  If that is the Deputy’s 
definition of cost effectiveness, it is cost-effective.

Mr. John Hennessy: That does not mean that it can be afforded.  It still represents an ad-
ditional cost.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: The NCPE website also makes clear that the budget impact is ap-
proximately €25 million.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: To tease this out, are the witnesses saying that there would be no cost-
saving?

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: There is an additional requirement - this is public knowledge, in the 
NCPE’s published assessments - of approximately €25 million.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: What about the stake-----

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: I am working from memory because it is not a rare disease drug.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I appreciate that, and Mr. Flanagan is not going to be locked in to what 
he said on that point.  I am not going to hang him on that.  Has he taken into consideration the 
saving in acute hospital expenditure because that drug is being used?

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: Absolutely, and the additionality is still €25 million.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Some €25 million?

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: Over five years.

Vice Chairman: We are going down the road of being very specific about one drug in this 
regard.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Does Professor Barry want to comment?

Vice Chairman: Will Professor Barry respond to that?  Then we can move on to getting 
answers to the other questions that were asked.

Professor Michael Barry: I will be specific about Entresto.  It is for heart failure.  We start-
ed the assessment on 7 March and we finished it on 8 July.  That took us four months, which is 
reasonably quick.  That is our component of the delay.  It was cost-effective and I guess, as Mr. 
Shaun Flanagan said, having taken everything into account, it was value for money.  However, 
it requires additional expenditure and that is where the affordability issue comes in.  The real 
issue here is that there are 40,000 people with heart failure.  Some 20,000 would be eligible 
and 20,000 would not be.  The issue then is to ensure that the appropriate patients get the drug 
and for it not to seep into the remainder of the 40,000.  That is where the budget issue comes 
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around, but it is right-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: And it is easy to distinguish.

Professor Michael Barry: Yes, in the sense that one would do an echo test of the heart and 
tell heart function.  We can differentiate it and it is important to do that so as to ensure that, 
where there is a proven benefit, people receive it.

Vice Chairman: I am conscious that questions from Deputy Brassil and Senator Swanick 
have not been answered yet.  The witnesses might address those, please.

Mr. John Hennessy: I might refer the issue raised by Deputy Brassil about whether the 
German assessment system is better to Professor Barry.  I will also refer to him the issue of the 
resourcing of the National Centre for Pharmacoeconomics, NCPE, in which he probably has a 
personal interest.

Before I do that, I will make a point so that people do not get a different impression.  Where 
possible, there is no attempt to hold back or slow down products.  If it is possible to get a new 
product that will benefit patients into the system and into patients, we do everything we can to 
ensure that happens.  This is particularly the case where new products substitute for existing 
ones where there is no affordability question.  Our track record on that speaks for itself.  Where 
it is clear that there is cost effectiveness and clinical benefits, but a substantial bill attaches, it 
represents a challenge to secure resources.  Most people would understand that.  The sums of 
money under discussion are enormous, running to hundreds of millions of euro, and investment 
is substantial.  Sometimes, it takes a bit of time to secure the approvals and necessary resourc-
ing.

Professor Michael Barry: Germany essentially has free pricing.  One goes in with the price 
that one nominates and, as Deputy Brassil rightly said, that price lasts for a certain period, in 
this instance at least 12 months.  There is a negotiation around the pricing.  From our point of 
view, it is not a model to be followed.  This is due to the significant budgetary issue with which 
it would leave us.  For example, if we did not assess any medication in 2016, it would have 
added €1 billion over five years to the drugs budget.  There are implications in following those 
patterns.  There is heterogeneity throughout Europe in respect of assessments.

Regarding the NCPE, our rapid reviews are always done in under four weeks.  We consider 
a drug, assess it and determine whether we are happy to recommend that it go through.  No one 
could do it faster than that when one is examining upwards of 70 products.

As to full assessments, Entresto was done in four months, for example.  The full assessment 
is a complicated procedure when large dossiers that are complex to analyse are received from 
the industry.  Full assessments are usually done within six months.  That is the approximate 
average.  The process from market authorisation to the patient getting the drug slows down, and 
we take approximately six months out of that.

Regarding resources, we have three additional staff members compared with when I joined 
19 years ago.  A recent review suggests that we need nine additional staff members, particularly 
in technical areas because this work has grown quite scientific, with a great deal of mathemati-
cal modelling, statistical analysis and data analysis.  These are the types of people that we want 
and we need more of them.

Deputy  John Brassil: Outside, did Professor Barry say that his team had four people?
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Professor Michael Barry: No.  Our team comprises nine whole-time equivalents.

Deputy  John Brassil: Sorry.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It needs nine more.

Professor Michael Barry: We cannot just go out and find these people.  They are difficult to 
get, so we grow our own.  Most of the people with us are our PhD students, who have thankfully 
stayed with us.  Without them, we could not operate.  It is as simple as that.

Deputy  John Brassil: Have the nine extra members been approved?

Professor Michael Barry: No.

Deputy  John Brassil: The NCPE is working at 50% of capacity.

Professor Michael Barry: There is no question-----

Deputy  John Brassil: Actually, I will rephrase that.  The NCPE needs 100% more staff to 
do the job required of it.

Professor Michael Barry: To be assured of meeting the timelines.  For me, quality is prob-
ably important as well.  As I always tell the industry, it is important to have quality people as-
sessing its dossiers, in that it leads to a better outcome and the work is done properly.  We have 
managed to keep to the timelines as much as possible.

Deputy  John Brassil: What of a review of a drug that does not pass assessment?

Professor Michael Barry: Entresto did.  With Respreeza, for example, we believed that the 
cost and health benefits did not match, in that it was not cost-effective.  Usually, that outcome 
sends the company into a negotiation with the HSE.  As such, it is not a “No”, but a recommen-
dation.  The HSE will follow up on that.  This is often where the price reductions are obtained.  
One can achieve price reductions of between 20% and 50%, but not in all cases.  As my col-
league beside me who handles these negotiations will tell the committee, not all drug compa-
nies are prepared to negotiate in a meaningful way.  That leaves us with a significant problem.

We make a recommendation.  We usually know the price at which a drug would be value for 
money.  That is the recommendation that we forward to the HSE.

Deputy  John Brassil: Mr. Hennessy or Mr. Flanagan might say when there will be a fur-
ther decision on Respreeza.  A number of patients have been operating on a month-to-month 
basis, which is unsatisfactory, as the witnesses can imagine.

Mr. John Hennessy: The preliminary stages - the NCPE assessment, the drugs committee 
assessment and the leadership team - are done.  This particular product did not pass the tests set 
out in the legislation or the criteria that I mentioned.  It is at the final stages and a part of this 
involves an opportunity for the company involved to make representations.  Those representa-
tions have been received and must be considered fully before the final decision is taken.  We 
are at that point.

Vice Chairman: Mr. Hennessy was asked for a date.  He said that the process was in the 
final stages.  What does that mean?

Mr. John Hennessy: Within weeks.
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Vice Chairman: I am in the final stages of renovating a house, and my view on how long 
that will be is very different from what the people who are building it believe it will be.  How 
long is a piece of string?  If the process is in the final stages, are we talking days, weeks or 
months and will Mr. Hennessy give us a date?

Mr. John Hennessy: We are talking weeks, by which I mean within three to four weeks.

Vice Chairman: I thank Mr. Hennessy.

Mr. John Hennessy: I might refer to the resourcing issue that Professor Barry addressed.  
It is an accepted fact that the applications are increasing at a phenomenal rate and that we must 
resource that process.  We are in considerable dialogue with the pharmaceutical industry on this 
front, and the committee will appreciate that the industry is concerned that the system is not 
able to cope with the demand and volume.  The HSE has made a clear commitment to resource 
the process well so that delays do not occur for the want of resourcing at that level.  I appreciate 
that not too many of the type of personnel needed for this work are walking around looking for 
employment.  They are not easy to secure.

Vice Chairman: Deputy O’Connell will ask the quickest question in the world.  Two other 
members have indicated.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Some members have sought clarification.

Vice Chairman: We can return to that.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Professor Barry referred to the complexity of the dossiers that 
the NCPE was receiving.  Is there a set standard operating procedure by which companies sub-
mit information or does the NCPE just get a large box of stuff and has to root through it?  If the 
approach is not streamlined, one can see how it might clog up the system.

Mr. Hennessy stated that some companies were not prepared to negotiate.  Is that company-
specific or indication-specific?  Do some companies not play ball or do they view the Irish 
market as not being worth their while to reduce prices in respect of certain illnesses?

Vice Chairman: I thank the Deputy, who said that she would be brief.  Senator Mullen 
asked a question, so the witnesses might address it.  Three more members have indicated and 
will be taken next.  The witnesses might keep their answers brief, but specific.

Dr. Lesley Tilson: We have a standardised format with regard to the dossiers that are sub-
mitted.  The format is on our website so people can follow very formalised processes and cri-
teria for submission.  Notwithstanding this, there is a range of variability within the dossiers 
themselves and what is submitted.   We have regular communications with IPHA, the Irish 
Pharmaceutical Healthcare Association, the industry representative group, on all of that to try 
to ensure it is a standardised process as much as possible.

Professor Michael Barry: It is important to say that when we do the assessments we are 
tick-tacking over with the companies that are, in general, very co-operative in this.  Where we 
do disagree then at least we know where we disagree.  That is the value of this system.  It is very 
transparent and we know exactly what the sticking points are.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: I may have confused the issue.  I said that ultimately the decision-
making process is formulated on the basis of the legislative process.  On the issue of rare dis-
eases process - which may be where the confusion relates to - there is a plan to change the rare 
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disease process.  Ultimately, however, the decision-making around all drugs, including orphan 
drugs, is set by the Health (Pricing and Supply of Medical Goods) Act 2013.  The HSE cannot 
make different decisions for orphan drugs.  It must be considered under the same criteria.  That 
is by way of clarification.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Is there undone work that was envisaged in the 2014-----

Vice Chairman: I must remind Senator Mullen that I am conscious there are people-----

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I did ask the question very specifically.  A lot of other extraneous 
issues have been brought up here.  I am dealing with the issue of orphan medicinal products.  I 
asked the witnesses if there is undone work in terms of the 2014 national rare disease plan and 
if this is the case, why?  I also want to know if Ireland were to provide the drugs on the same 
basis as is done in Germany, so that the same number of drugs of the orphan medicine would be 
available, what would be the extra costs? I imagine it is some percentage of €1 billion, but do 
the witnesses know what the figure is?

Vice Chairman: Can I ask the witnesses to keep their responses as brief as they can because 
I am conscious that there are very patient committee members also waiting to come in?

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: The simple answer to the question of pricing in Germany is that the 
information is not available.  I can tell the Senator that on the basis of the products we have in 
front of us to consider, if we had €200 million we probably would not have enough money over 
the next five years to say “Yes” to everything.  That is pretty clear.

On the question of undone work, Professor Barry has outlined the main finding.  I am 
responsible for the application process for all new drugs.  I am not responsible for the imple-
mentation of the rare diseases programme.  I am not part of the rare diseases programme.  I am 
operating outside of my comfort zone here; I am here to discuss the processes and criteria used 
when evaluating orphan drugs.  It is my understanding that in respect of drugs the outstanding 
action in the plan is a separate process that would involve a rare disease committee.  Professor 
Barry has already described that and he has been asked to chair it.

Professor Michael Barry: The model of this committee is very much alongside the na-
tional cancer control, programme.  When we do our assessments, for example, not only do we 
send our report to the HSE, we also send it to the national cancer control programme technology 
review group.  That allows other stakeholders, especially clinicians with expertise in the area, 
to comment and to highlight unmet needs or other areas that may not come out on a technology 
assessment.  It is envisaged that the rare diseases technology review group or committee would 
behave in a similar manner.  That would allow various stakeholders such as patients, patient 
groups, carers and clinicians to have a say in the process.  We accept that ideally this would be 
done for everything.

Vice Chairman: I thank Senator Dolan and Deputies Murphy and Durkan for their patience.

Senator  John Dolan: I thank the Chairman.  Patience is what it is all about today, in re-
spect of patients waiting too long and the terrible situations they are in.  Professor Barry stole a 
line from me when he said there is nothing rare about rare diseases.  In round terms, how many 
people across their lives will have, or are likely to have, a rare disease?  With scientific, techni-
cal and medical advances are there likely to be more people diagnosed with rare diseases over 
time?
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I want to discuss timelines.  Given my own background with the disability movement, I 
know a lot of the people, patients groups and organisations.  The representatives from the Alpha 
One Foundation and Muscular Dystrophy Ireland are coming in to the committee soon.   The 
days, weeks and months matter in giving relief and in keeping and arresting the decline in qual-
ity of life for people.  In other words, let us be clear and blunt about it: delays have economic 
and social consequences in terms of the impact on families and family attrition.  What can be 
done? Are there some ways to actually improve the timeframe? I am not long a member of this 
committee.  I have been here for one year and I am struck by the timelines.  Is it going to be drug 
by drug, patient group by patient group, year by year coming back in to the committee trying 
to sort it out case by case? A way has to be found.  We would all be annoyed by that timeline 
but that is nothing to the impact it has on the people affected.  There must be some better way.  
I am struck by the idea that there must be rare conditions across the cancer family but I am not 
hearing those issues getting raised in the same way I hear about these other conditions.  Am I 
right or is there some aspect of how we deal with the cancer family that we are not bringing into 
play here? Maybe it is not as simple as that.

My final point is about the small numbers.  It seems to be an issue.  Consider the commu-
nity rating.  Rather than saying there are only so many with a condition would it be a fairer and 
more reasonable way to look at the issue by taking the burden off the two dozen or 200 people 
who have a condition in their families and say that the genetic cards could drop differently and 
this is something that could happen to anybody?  Should we look at the basket and say that rare 
conditions are not so rare and could possibly become more common in the future so we must 
take the burden of the costs off the shoulders of named people?

Vice Chairman: I invite Deputy Durkan, the master of brevity.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank the Chairman.  I will do my best to keep up to that 
standard.

My first dealing with this particular subject was about 25 years ago, and it has not changed 
since.  Then there were two aspects to it.  One was the degree to which Ireland paid above and 
beyond every other European country for our drugs in general.  We have added to that the or-
phan drugs and the high-tech drugs and I cannot understand it.  We are playing around at the 
edges and we are going nowhere fast.  I do not accept the notion that we should have a quantum 
of 14 or 15 countries within which we should operate.  We are within the European Union and 
the Single Market and that is the place we have to go.  That is the place we have to be.  That is 
the market that can negotiate with the pharmaceutical companies.  Nobody else can do it to the 
same effect that the EU can.

I shall now turn to the issue of people who are dependent on high-tech drugs.  What is 
actually happening is that the pharmaceutical companies create the drugs, create and feed the 
markets and then blackmail the governments in order to get what they want in return.  Sadly, the 
patients are the jam in the sandwich.  That situation cannot continue because it is unacceptable.  
I cannot understand why we are assessing these drugs ourselves.  Why are these drugs not be-
ing assessed at EU level? Why not make one game of it all over and finish with it?  The drugs 
are either acceptable and safe or they are not safe, in which case the European Union, with a 
market of 500 million people, is in a very good position to negotiate with anybody.  There is 
no possibility that countries the size of Ireland, Cyprus or the smaller countries of the EU are 
going to get any kind of fair play in dealing with that market situation.  The only way it can 
be done is by simply invoking the Single Market and the power of the 500 million people.  Is 
Ireland duplicating assessments that are taking place across the EU?  I presume we are, we must 
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be.  Why is Ireland doing something ridiculous like that? Why does Ireland not engage with a 
central agency?  There are many of them right across the EU.

Reference was made to Germany, which has a population of over 80 million.  That is what 
the Germans are at.  It is a bulk market that involves bulk buying.  Why have we not invited 
ourselves into that circle?  I know the Minister is very anxious to do that because I spoke with 
him about it and he is pursuing the matter.  However, there are so many things to be pursued 
simultaneously and time is not on our side.  Time is not on the side of the patients and those 
who rely on rare drugs to make life bearable.  That is the issue.  On leaving here today, will the 
witnesses engage with the pharmaceutical companies,  through the medium of the EU, and cut 
out the nonsense about which we have been talking, namely, going round in circles and having 
this deal for one year and another deal for the next or putting in place an arrangement in respect 
of a particular drug for six months or a year.  This is all nonsense and it is making us a laughing 
stock.  When we are seen to be operating like that, we are noted for our weakness.  When we 
are weak, we will not create waves anywhere.  It is a simple and straightforward question.  How 
soon can the witnesses do that to which I refer or are they in a position to do it?  Can the HSE 
do it?  Can the process be started now?  In the context of all of this, is it possible to quantify 
the benefit of the entire drug market to our economy?  Would it also be possible to quantify the 
benefit to be obtained for that group of patients who must rely on rare drugs in order to have a 
reasonable quality of life?

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: I will be brief unlike some of my colleagues

Vice Chairman: I have no doubt.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: I thank the witnesses for coming before us.  It is 
very important that we remember that behind every decision lies a person and his or her family.  
This must be utmost in the witnesses’ minds when they are discussing matters.  When it comes 
to money, figures, etc., the person can often be forgotten about.  I would like to highlight that 
people are behind all of these cases.

Professor Barry said that the NCPE could do with nine more staff but that they are very hard 
to get.  What is the reason for this?  Is it education?

Professor Michael Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: Professor Barry might comment further on that.

I welcome the fact that we will have a decision on Respreeza in three or four weeks.  A con-
stituent of mine was lucky enough to be part of the trial but she is now at her wits’ end, living 
from month to month not knowing what is happening.  I welcome, therefore, the fact that we 
will have a decision soon.  Is there a specific comparison between a patient who is being treated 
with Respreeza and a patient who is not, particularly in the context of hospitalisation and the 
cost associated with that?

Deputy  Michael Healy-Rae: I will be brief.  I appreciate the opportunity and thank the 
witnesses for being here.  For years, I have been dealing with patients who rely on the drug 
Respreeza.  I thank the Alpha One Foundation for great work it does.  Unfortunately, patients 
have had to come to the Dáil to highlight their plight.  The witnesses are well aware of patients, 
families and, as has already been said, real people who are literally living on borrowed time and 
who do not know whether they will have the drug for next month.  It is an awful way to live 
one’s life.  I appreciate that the witnesses are very respectable people doing a job and work-
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ing within the constraints that are there but, as I asked a while ago, what price can one put on 
a human life?  One cannot put a price on it.  I agree 100% that the companies must be made 
accountable for the money they charge and must be made aware that they cannot charge outra-
geous prices.  Those companies have a social responsibility to ensure that people can live their 
lives.  All these people want is the bare minimum as regards quality of life in order that they will 
know that when they go to bed at night, that they will be able to get up in the morning, that the 
drug will be available for them and that they will be able to continue to live with their families.  
That is all we want.  I have pleaded with the Minister and I am aware that he understands the 
situation 100%.  I have asked how we could say to people that we cannot afford to provide the 
drug for them.  There is a social responsibility.  I am not putting this all back on the witnesses 
or the Department.  I am saying that it relates to the companies.

There is a thing called respectability.  The message should go out from here, on an cross-
party basis, that we are outraged by the way companies are holding people’s lives to ransom.  
To those people who put such a high charge on the drug, I would say that I respect the fact that 
they must make money and be profitable but there is such a thing as extortion.  Just because a 
company can charge an extraordinary amount of money does not mean it should do so.  I would 
like this message to go out from the committee.  I appreciate the work the committee is doing 
here.  I do not want to put anybody above anybody else but the work being done by this com-
mittee is more important than anything else.  We want to tell citizens of this State that when 
they require a drug, they will get it regardless of cost.  At the same time, we do not want to the 
Government to be fleeced.

Vice Chairman: Obviously, any decisions taken by the committee will not be taken in 
public, as is the custom.  Will the witnesses respond to the questions?  Banking questions is 
not ideal so could witnesses go through them?  Members reserve the right to come back in if 
anything is missed.

Mr. John Hennessy: I will make a start on that group of questions.  Again, I will be relying 
on colleagues to come in on aspects of the questions.

In response to Senator Dolan, my sense is that it is not necessarily the case that more rare 
diseases or rare conditions are being diagnosed but that perhaps more products are being de-
veloped to deal with rare conditions than would have been the case in the past.  Obviously, that 
is good news and something we are all delighted about.  The less attractive element of it is the 
extremely high prices that tend to accompany those products.  The fact that new products are 
being developed for conditions that might not have been treated in the past is positive.  My col-
leagues may have something more to say about that.

On the issue of delays, I repeat that the investment outlay required in respect of some of 
these conditions is quite considerable.  It is for precisely this reason that the strict assessment 
criteria that are now in place were introduced.  Professor Barry outlined earlier that we hope to 
refine this process as much as possible.  He alluded to the arrangements for cancer care where 
some very high-priced products and drugs are coming on stream.  That refinement aims to cap-
ture, in a more comprehensive way, the input of patients and the clinicians dealing directly with 
those patients, bring it into the heart of the process and ensure that these perspectives are taken 
into account when the product comes to the drugs committee and the leadership team.  That 
approach has benefited cancer care here and, hopefully, we will see a similar benefit for rare 
diseases with which we are dealing this morning.

Deputy Durkan mentioned a few concerns that I will address.  I will also rely on colleagues.  
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The concern that we are paying too much is always there.  It is for this reason that the 2013 
legislation, controls and structures were introduced.  Is there duplication?  I suspect there is 
duplication across the EU on this.  It does stand out as a really attractive opportunity to ratio-
nalise that.  Colleagues may have views on this but I suspect the reason it has not happened up 
to now is because larger jurisdictions may be able to secure better discounts on behalf of their 
populations and may be less interested in doing this than smaller jurisdictions.  The Deputy is 
right.  The Minister has been pursuing this matter with colleagues from smaller states.  It does 
look like an opportunity.  I suspect that the HSE cannot proceed with that unilaterally in so far 
as it would need the agreement of health services across the EU to secure it.  Again, it would 
be difficult for one small health service to determine that but I know the Minister is working on 
that approach and I hope it will progress.  I absolutely concur with Deputy Murphy O’Mahony 
that there are real patients and real families involved in every element of this and they are at 
the centre of it.  With regard to the Respreeza clinical trials, I am pretty sure the hospitalisation 
dimension, or the avoidance of hospitalisation, was factored into the assessment, but I will ask 
Professor Barry to comment on this.

Vice Chairman: I apologise for interrupting, but the point was made on the benefit of keep-
ing people out of hospital.  When we speak about the nine drugs awaiting approval, has this 
been factored in by the HSE?

Mr. John Hennessy: It is fair to say, and colleagues will know better, from the reports I see 
the impact on the avoidance of hospitalisation is generally included as a factor in the assess-
ment.

Vice Chairman: When we say those nine drugs would cost €120 million over five years-----

Mr. John Hennessy: It is net of-----

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: A common misunderstanding put out in the media is that the HSE 
does not consider all of the cost offsets.  It does.  The actual additionality we are asking for is 
additionality after every saving has been considered, so it is the additional bit we need.

Vice Chairman: Apologies for the interruption.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: This featured a lot in the media in the Orkambi discussion, that the 
HSE did not consider the net cost of hospitalisation.  We did.  We were fully aware of all of 
these factors and we still needed hundreds of millions of euro.

Mr. John Hennessy: I will answer Deputy Healy-Rae’s point and Professor Barry might 
come in on it also.  The Deputy raised the issue of putting a price on life, or appearing to put a 
price on life.  That is not what we do and Professor Barry may have thoughts on this.  I concur 
with Deputy Healy-Rae on the responsibility that lies with pharmaceutical companies to behave 
in an ethical manner on these issues because patients and families are directly involved.  I refer 
in particular to the occasional practice of putting patients on clinical trials, providing access for 
the duration of the clinical trials and then threatening to withdraw the drug.  In fairness, most 
pharmaceutical companies do not engage in this practice but some obviously do, and this would 
not be regarded as ethical behaviour by the HSE.  Professor Barry will deal with the price on 
life issue.

Professor Michael Barry: This is something that has come up quite a bit over the years.  
We are not actually putting a price on life, but what we are putting a price and a money value 
on is the benefit the drug will give.  If we think about it, we have to value in some way to get 
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some idea of whether we should invest in it.  It is putting a price on the benefit the drug gives 
and not a price on a person’s life.  The other important issue concerns my belief that all drugs 
should be assessed on the basis that simply because it is an orphan drug or a cancer drug it does 
not mean it works very well.  This is the simple issue.  Many of them do not work very well and 
this is why we assess them.  There is an old saying in this game that if it is not clinically effec-
tive it certainly cannot be cost-effective.  For many of the drugs to which we say “No”, money 
is a factor, but clinical-effectiveness is a major factor.  In fact, some of the clinical trials show 
very poor evidence the drug actually works.  The point about it is if we invest millions of euro 
into a drug that does not work very well somebody else will lose out.  This is called opportunity 
cost and this is the reality.  Will we see this again and again?  Yes we will.  This is what we will 
see.  There is a conveyor belt of high-cost medicines.  Yesterday, I got one for €500 million per 
patient per year.  This is now a common occurrence.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I presume all of the witnesses have professional bodies which 
have a central agency or organisation in Europe.  I know this is correct.  I am not asking the 
question because I know it is true.  Could the witnesses use the strength of their professional 
bodies at European level to bypass some of the obstacles we have spoken about?  With regard 
to constant assessing, I would have presumed Ireland could refer the results of our assessments 
to our European colleagues and let us have one assessment.  We do not have to reassess again 
and again and go through the same process all over again.

Deputy  John Brassil: My question is along the same lines.  In any walk of life, organisa-
tion or process review a decision is reached based on best knowledge and information, which 
is very much respected.  Is there a review mechanism with regard to the final decision of the 
witnesses, whereby somebody else can take a clean look at it?  Two outcomes can differ.  I am 
not saying the witnesses’ analysis would be wrong, but somebody could look at it, see it from a 
different point of view and come up with different outcome.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: The National Centre for Pharmacoeconomics is a recommending or-
ganisation, which the HSE asks to commission a health technology assessment.  This involves 
the HSE drugs group, a committee of which 50% to 60% are actually clinicians.  It reviews and 
assesses the assessment and evidence synthesis Professor Barry has done.  It also challenges 
my unit, which is responsible for the commercial negotiations, on whether we have done a good 
enough job.  There are steps within the process.  The HSE drugs group makes a recommenda-
tion to the HSE leadership team, which looks at everything de novo and challenges all of the 
assessments and judgments made throughout the process and comes to an ultimate decision.  
There are steps in the process where all of us are challenged internally in the HSE.  Obviously 
we also have a significant amount of external challenge and viewpoints on which we must re-
flect.  All the way through the steps no single person is responsible for the decision.  Everyone 
is answerable, everyone’s recommendations are challenged and my work on negotiations with 
pharmaceutical companies is challenged by the drugs group.  I am frequently sent back to try 
harder and do better.  This is part of the process.

Deputy Brassil asked an earlier question on the frequency of meetings.  The HSE drugs 
group is scheduled, and when it was incorporated it was scheduled to meet four times a year.  It 
has already met six times this year, so it meets monthly to try to get through as many products 
as it possibly can.

Deputy  John Brassil: Another meeting is probably necessary at this stage.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: Absolutely, and it has met six times already this year.
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Professor Michael Barry: To expand, we meet every week and review all of the drugs.  In 
the assessment process in Europe various agencies often examine and compare them.  We find 
a positive decision can be made in one country and a negative in another, and if we think about 
it this should not surprise us.  We have EUnetHTA, the European Union network of health 
technology assessment.  I do not see harmonisation of assessments in Europe from a health 
technology assessment point of view or from pricing happening any time soon, and I will tell 
the committee why.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: What about European standards and minimum standards?

Professor Michael Barry: No, because the valuation of health benefits will differ signifi-
cantly between countries and costs will also differ.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: That is not correct.

Professor Michael Barry: It is true.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: That is not correct.

Professor Michael Barry: Deputy Durkan might not feel it should be right but that is the 
way it is.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Minimum standards are laid down at European level on virtu-
ally everything we do in the course of our daily lives.  We need to get the benefit of these mini-
mum standards.  I do not want to be offensive or cause any aggravation, but that does not stop 
me from saying what needs to be said.  I have been a member of the European affairs committee 
for many years, so I know where standards are laid down and I know what they are supposed to 
do.  They are not doing it, we are not availing of them and we are not getting the benefits of our 
membership of the European Union for patients throughout the country.

Vice Chairman: To be very clear on this, as a layperson it strikes me that science is science 
and tests are tests, so I share Deputy Durkan’s surprise there are not standards throughout the 
European Union by which these things can be assessed.  When a purely scientific analysis is 
done on outcomes, a person is a person and it does not matter whether he or she is in Lithuania, 
Azerbaijan or Dublin.

Dr. Lesley Tilson: There are a number of steps within the health technology assessment, 
HTA, process, and we are participating in joint assessments for relative effectiveness assess-
ment, which is based on scientific evidence, including clinical trials.  When we go a step further, 
to the full HTA process, it can be much more complex.  For example, the standard of care and 
health system delivery here can be different to other countries and that can affect the cost ef-
fectiveness result, leading to different conclusions.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Are they governed by European standards?

Dr. Lesley Tilson: They are, but we follow different clinical guidelines.  What might be 
available here to be prescribed can be different to the UK.  That affects the conclusions.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: We are all in the European Union and so it applies right 
across Europe.  Why are we not included in that?

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: We are flagging that there is an EU process called EUnetHTA which 
has been in place for around a decade.  It has struggled to standardise this scientifically.  If one 
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is doing a cost benefit analysis one has to consider the benefit and the costs.  We may pay our 
clinicians and nurses differently to how Germany does.  That all builds in to the cost benefit 
analysis.  The Deputy can shake his head, but that is the actual truth.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I am not going to interrupt again, but that is not acceptable.  
I want to repeat that we are all governed by European standards at the present time.  We are 
part of a single market, the much-vaulted market that we are reminded of again and again, and 
there are huge benefits from it.  It is a huge market of some 500 million people.  We have been 
talking about small countries having individual deals with pharmaceutical companies and such 
nonsense.  We are wasting our time.  We are playing around at the edges, and while we are do-
ing so people are suffering or worried or may not have access to new medicines and may have 
to pay more for any medicine they use.  It was mentioned earlier that some medicines have 
dropped dramatically in price.  The reason for that is because of the type of discussion that we 
are having here now, but I can assure the witnesses that I do not accept the notion that we are 
not entitled to the same as every other person living in any other part of Europe.

Vice Chairman: The Deputy’s point is well made.  We will move on.

Mr. Shaun Flanagan: We are not arguing with that.

Professor Michael Barry: There is a difference between negotiating on price, which I com-
pletely agree on, and the assessment process.  There are no agencies in some eastern European 
countries.  Germany will not accept the parameters that we would accept in an assessment.  We 
are closer to the UK and Holland.  France will not carry out a formal cost-effectiveness analy-
sis.  Different things go on in different countries, and that makes it difficult from an assessment 
point of view.  On the issue of negotiation on pricing I find it hard to disagree with the Deputy.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank the witnesses.

Mr. John Hennessy: No one is arguing with the logic of what Deputy Durkan is saying.  
Of course we should be availing of cross-European opportunities.  I do not presume to speak 
for our Department of Health colleagues on this, but I am aware that there is work going on in 
this area.  It involves the areas of information and knowledge sharing.  The complexity of that 
should never be underestimated.  It certainly involves leveraging the purchasing power of the 
500 million people that the Deputy spoke of in order to get better value and better contracts with 
drug suppliers.  There is no argument with the logic of what the Deputy is saying.

Vice Chairman: I have some short questions for the witnesses.  On the potential for de-
veloping our own drugs, we have a thriving third-level sector and a huge amount of money is 
being invested into skilling-up our scientists and fitting out our universities.  Is there a reason 
why we are not developing more of our own drugs, and with the involvement of the State in 
the provision of those services can we not then expect a dividend?  Unlike Deputy Healy-Rae I 
am never shocked when big business behaves slightly less than ethically, but if we have made a 
contribution to the development of these drugs - and I genuinely believe that we have - is it not 
in order that we should expect a dividend?

There was a huge amount of discussion around the 2013 Act and the protocols and the nec-
essary procedures laid down.  Is it the view of the witnesses that for orphan drugs we would 
need an entirely separate process, be it legislatively underpinned or otherwise?  Would we need 
to revise the legislation or somehow find a way around that?  

Mr. John Hennessy: In terms of companies producing drugs in Ireland and getting better 
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value because of that, I am not sure that it actually works that way.  Quite a number of the phar-
maceutical products marketed worldwide are actually made in Ireland.

Vice Chairman: I am talking about development.  Where they are physically made is not 
that important.  Our universities are working in tandem and in partnership with these multina-
tionals and yet we do not seem to get any benefit.  We are still building the labs and staffing 
them, and yet we are not getting any benefit back.  From the witness’s reaction I can see that that 
is not happening, but it strikes me as a bit of a wasted opportunity if the Department of Educa-
tion and Skills is putting large amounts of money into the universities to ensure that they have 
scientific labs and we are not extracting any benefit from that.

Mr. John Hennessy: The Vice Chairman is getting into a very big question about the model 
of development for drugs and medicines.  The reality is that the model we have at the moment is 
what we have, and it is based on commercial entities producing medicines under the blanket of 
patent protection afforded to them by states.  The question then arises as to whether the State, on 
behalf of its patients, get value for money for those products.  At the moment the answer is yes 
in some cases and in other cases no.  To change the model would require significant investment, 
and the affordability of replacing the current system would be a big question.  The system that 
is there is protected by that patent blanket of protection, and it is a good question whether that 
produces good value.  In the long term that question is most likely one for the political domain.

 The question as to whether an entirely separate process is now needed for rare diseases on 
foot of the 2013 Act is a big question that can probably only be settled in the political domain.  
The measures that we have been taking to try to refine the current system, as laid out in the 2013 
Act, have been on the back of the rare diseases report, in order to get a better appreciation for 
the differences that apply to rare conditions.  Arguably the legislation could be amended, and of 
course we would implement whatever legislation is determined as necessary for that.

Vice Chairman: I thank Mr. Hennessy, Mr. Flanagan, Mr. Mitchell, Professor Barry and Dr. 
Tilson for their time and their answers.

Sitting suspended at 11.30 a.m. and resumed at 11.35 a.m.

Funding of Orphan Drugs: Discussion

Vice Chairman: We are joined for this session by representatives of the Alpha One Foun-
dation, an advocacy group for Respreeza, and Muscular Dystrophy Ireland, an advocacy group 
for Translarna, to discuss the subject of funding for orphan drugs.  On behalf of the committee, 
I welcome Ms Geraldine Kelly and Professor Gerry McElvaney of the Alpha One Foundation 
and Ms Clair Kelly and Mr. Richard Lodge of Muscular Dystrophy Ireland.

I draw the witnesses’ attention to the fact that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation 
Act 2009, they are protected by absolute privilege in respect of their evidence to the committee.  
However, if they are directed by the committee to cease giving evidence on a particular matter 
and they continue to do so, they are entitled thereafter only to qualified privilege in respect of 
their evidence.  They are directed that only evidence connected with the subject matter of these 
proceedings is to be given and are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, 
where possible, they should not criticise or make charges against any person or entity by name 
or in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  I also advise them that any submission 
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or opening statement they have made to the committee may be published on the committee 
website after this meeting.

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside of the Houses or an 
official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

The witnesses are all very welcome.  I am sure they will have listened to the proceedings of 
the previous session with interest, as we all did.  I thank them for being here with us.  I ask Ms 
Kelly of the Alpha One Foundation to make her opening statement.

Ms Geraldine Kelly: Professor Gerry McElvaney and I thank members for having in-
vited the Alpha One Foundation before the committee.  The foundation is here to represent 
approximately 60 alpha-1 patients, some of whom are present today, who are affected by the 
preliminary decision of the NCPE and the HSE not to approve reimbursement of Respreeza.  I 
acknowledge and thank these patients for attending today’s meeting.

By way of background, alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency is a genetic disorder that affects the 
lungs, liver and, in rare cases, the skin.  Lung disease is the most common presentation, where-
by people with alpha-1 may develop emphysema in their 40s and 50s, with or without a history 
of smoking.  They experience frequent and severe chest infections that may require hospitalisa-
tion.  They will often require the use of oxygen and may ultimately require a lung transplant as 
a result of irreversible deterioration in lung health.

Respreeza is a new, life-changing drug developed by CSL Behring which treats the underly-
ing cause of emphysema, rather than the symptoms, in specific alpha-1 patients.  Clinical trial 
results published in The Lancet in 2015 and The Lancet Respiratory Medicine in 2016 conclu-
sively demonstrated a slowing down in the progression of emphysema by 34% in patients with 
alpha-1.  Respreeza was approved by the European Medicines Agency in July 2015 and is now 
reimbursed in 12 European countries.  A survey conducted by the Alpha One Foundation of 
patients receiving Respreeza found that chest infections dropped by 68% and hospitalisations 
by 69% per year and reported improvements in patients’ ability to work and lead active lives.

The decision to approve or not to approve Respreeza will have a hugely significant impact 
on the lives of approximately 60 patients in Ireland who fit the prescribing criteria.  An esti-
mated 40 people with alpha-1 have never had access to Respreeza but would benefit from the 
therapy.  Meanwhile, their health continues to decline, so it is imperative that this situation be 
resolved.  Another 21 patients were involved in CSL Behring’s clinical trial of the drug here and 
have been given continued access to the therapy by the company following the trial’s conclu-
sion in 2014.  However, over the past year, these 21 patients have received repeated deadlines 
from the company advising them that the therapy will cease unless approved for reimburse-
ment.  The latest deadline of 31 July is fast approaching.  These deadlines are causing huge dis-
tress and anxiety to patients, are totally unacceptable and should be withdrawn.  The “Vision & 
Values” section of CSL Behring’s website states: “We listen to and address the needs of people 
with life-threatening disorders and the professionals who serve them.”  We ask CSL Behring to 
fulfil this vision and listen to patients, listen to the Alpha One Foundation and listen to all com-
mittee members as this country’s public representatives.  We ask CSL Behring to stop issuing 
deadlines to patients who have given so much in their research endeavours.

Of course, this does not remove obligations on the NCPE, the HSE and the Department 
of Health to acknowledge the evidence that this therapy does work, as clearly understood and 
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appreciated by the European Medicines Agency and our European neighbours.  I ask the com-
mittee to remember that this is about not just the 21 patients already on the therapy but also 
approximately 40 others who continue to be deprived of its benefits.  The NCPE, in making its 
original determination, did not consider a second study which further demonstrated the clinical 
effectiveness of the therapy nor did it take into account the results of the Alpha One Founda-
tion patient survey.  It is a cause of further distress for patients that there is a complete lack 
of transparency and communication with the approvals process.  Since the first determination 
was made by the NCPE, patients have continued to fret and worry, with no formal notification 
from the HSE as to the current status.  It was only when patients grew increasingly and publicly 
frustrated and upset that a meeting was quickly arranged with the HSE in February of this year.  
However, since then, little information has been forthcoming, only occasional updates gleaned 
from media statements.

Patients have pointed out to us how bizarre it is that the Government funds a national screen-
ing programme for alpha-1 but then fails to fund a new treatment that tackles it.  Patients also 
highlight that there are savings to be made in keeping them healthy for longer, keeping them out 
of expensive hospitals and enabling them to contribute to our economy and our society.  These 
are important considerations. 

It is obvious from our experience that the current approvals system is not fit for purpose and 
there is a clear need for appropriate patient engagement structures.  We urge the implementa-
tion of the technical review group for orphan drugs as recommended in the national rare disease 
plan. 

Finally, it is important to state that the Alpha One Foundation and the patients we represent 
have no interest in supporting “big pharma” but we do support big therapies - therapies that 
make life-changing differences to people’s lives. 

We urge all parties to put patients first and to agree a deal.  Yes, taxpayers should get maxi-
mum value for money but our patients are entitled to a maximum quality of life too.  Would the 
members here not agree? 

Vice Chairman: I welcome the representative of Muscular Dystrophy Ireland, Mr. Lodge, 
and invite him to make his opening remarks.

Mr. Richard Lodge: My name is Richard Lodge and I am the chief executive officer of 
Muscular Dystrophy Ireland and I am here with our information specialist, Ms Clair Kelly.  I 
thank the committee for taking the time to hear our representations today.  I speak on behalf of 
the 800 members of Muscular Dystrophy Ireland and the five children currently known to us 
who could benefit from the drug Translarna.  I especially speak on behalf of the two children 
aged five and seven years who are currently losing valuable treatment time, children of parents 
who are forced to watch as a narrow window of opportunity closes permanently.  

Duchenne muscular dystrophy is a debilitating condition resulting in the progressive weak-
ening and wasting of the muscles.  A child with Duchenne can expect to lose the ability to walk 
by the age of ten years, to develop cardiac and respiratory problems in their teens and will have 
an average life expectancy of 27 years.  Translarna is the first ever treatment for Duchenne to 
receive European Medicines Agency, EMA, approval.  European specialists believe it has the 
potential to change the course of the disease and improve the overall life expectancy of patients.  
Since 2014, more than 400 children in 22 European countries have been receiving this medica-
tion.  This leaves Ireland as one of the last remaining countries yet to facilitate treatment.  It 
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appears as though our decision not to reimburse for Translarna is at odds with experts across 
Europe.  Would this imply that the European Medicines Agency and the 22 other European 
countries have all got it wrong or it is the case that we are behind the curve?  

Muscular Dystrophy Ireland has made several observations regarding the assessment of 
Translarna including an excessively long process, little apparent understanding of the progres-
sive nature of the condition, no meaningful engagement with patient groups and no evidence 
of expert clinical input despite the clear unmet clinical need.  There is also the decision not to 
include into the equation the compelling evidence from a phase 3 clinical study.  Delays to date 
have included the failure to discuss Translarna at the most recent drugs group meeting despite 
it being an item on the agenda.  It is now almost a year since the HSE leadership team stated 
it was eager to review Translarna again.  One requirement of treatment is the ability to walk 
at least ten steps unaided.  These delays in access will directly result in some of these children 
missing the opportunity for treatment as their condition deteriorates and they lose ambulation.  
This drug may not be cheap but it may be cheaper than the cost of caring for a non-ambulatory 
child for a year.  Evidence indicates that the earlier the drug is prescribed, the more muscular 
integrity is retained.  Under the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, children have an 
explicit right to achieve their developmental potential and sustain the highest possible standards 
of health.  Is there a danger that we are jeopardising that right?  For the first time ever, we have 
treatments in development for Duchenne, spinal muscular atrophy, SMA, alpha-1, cystic fibro-
sis, cystinosis and a number of other rare diseases.  Ireland does not appear to be ready for this 
and Irish patients are falling behind their European counterparts.  In the case of access to Trans-
larna, Ireland is now three years behind France and Germany and a full year behind England, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland. 

Our current system of assessment for rare diseases is not fit for purpose and we are con-
cerned about the lack of development of strategies for the provision of high technology and 
orphan therapies.  As it stands, no orphan drugs will get through the current health technology 
assessment, HTA, process and therefore nobody with a rare disease will be treated until a solu-
tion is put in place.  One such solution is the implementation of the recommendations of the 
national rare disease plan, approved by the Government in 2014.  The HSE has committed to 
the development of a working group to bring forward appropriate decision criteria for the reim-
bursement of orphan medicines and technologies.  The promised technical review committee 
for orphan drugs, while in progress, was without a chair until this morning.  It may be that this 
meeting has prompted that appointment.  It remains unresourced and has yet to meet. 

We also need to consider other avenues for accessing orphan drugs, including fast track, 
managed access and managed risk programmes.  We need an immediate fix for the current 
situation while the oil tanker that is the present process alters course.  Our request as a patient 
organisation is for a timely conclusion of the review of Translarna and a fair and transparent 
process that will not leave rare diseases behind.  We also ask for our children with muscular 
dystrophy to attain the same opportunities for health as their European counterparts, especially 
those in adjoining jurisdictions, without the need to move there.  Currently, we are failing these 
children. 

Vice Chairman: I thank Mr. Lodge.  I call Deputy Durkan, followed by Deputy Brassil.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank the witnesses for giving their time to come before us 
this morning.  The drugs require Government, ministerial and HSE approval and so on.  On the 
drugs which were referred to, what do the witnesses envisage as the shortest, quickest route that 
would short-circuit that process for drugs in the future?  Each time the question arises, we go 
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through the same process we discussed earlier.  Having direct knowledge, the witnesses are in 
a good position to tell us what we can do to short-circuit the delays and as a consequence, the 
patients’ concerns.  I will not refer to the drugs, but the witnesses will know them.

Deputy  John Brassil: I welcome the witnesses and apologise to Mr. Lodge and Ms Clair 
Kelly.  Had I known that people with Duchenne muscular dystrophy were being represented 
here this morning, I would have pursued the same line of questioning as I had done with Re-
spreeza for alpha-1.  I am a substitute on this committee for Deputy Kelleher and I had not seen 
that but I will try to follow up by email on the questioning on their behalf when the decision is 
being made.

It probably has been interesting for Professor McElvaney, Ms Geraldine Kelly, Ms Clair 
Kelly and Mr. Lodge to have been present and to have heard the discussion earlier.  Those are 
the answers that we have been given.  We asked thorough questions and received fairly com-
prehensive answers but I would be interested to hear from the witnesses, as representatives of 
advocacy groups, whether what members have been told is factual or partly factual and we 
might return to challenge some of the answers given to us.  The issue of understaffing of the 
NCPE is highly significant.  Its representative gave us the impression that the timeframe was 
quite tight but that does not seem to be the experience that I have had in dealing with groups 
such as those represented here.  I have campaigned on the Respreeza issue since my election 
and hopefully we will have the answer we have sought in three or four weeks, and I hope for 
the same with Translarna.  

Having worked with the groups here from the start, I am familiar with the issues.  There can 
be no argument about the need to sanction these drugs as their clinical efficacy has been proven 
beyond doubt.  The question is how do we get to the final step and have the costs reimbursed.  
A number of people with alpha-1 are on clinical trials.  Are sufferers of muscular dystrophy on 
such trials or are they relying on data from other jurisdictions?

On companies’ responsibility, it is welcome in one respect that companies opt for clinical 
trials and put patients on them.  However, I am concerned that having proven the efficacy of 
a drug at a subsequent stage, a company could threaten its withdrawal.  Either the companies 
should not start at all or if they start and the drug is proving to be effective, there is a moral re-
sponsibility on them to continue.  Are there any examples of companies that have started clini-
cal trials, proven efficacy and then stopped giving the drug to the patients because of not being 
reimbursed or is it just a stick they use to beat us with?

Vice Chairman: I have some questions and then I will come to Deputy Murphy O’Mahony 
and Senator Colm Burke.  Ms Kelly spoke about deadlines.  Could she provide an insight on 
behalf of the people she is here to represent of the kind of impacts those deadlines have on 
families and the individuals themselves?  It must be horrendous for them.  I have met people in 
my constituency who were affected and the manner in which some of the process is conducted 
is nothing short of cruel.

If the witnesses were to score the national rare disease plan in terms of strategy could they 
say it is good?  Could they also score it on implementation?  I would be interested in seeing if 
the scores are different.  Reference was made to savings and the cost to the taxpayer of a non-
ambulatory child versus the cost of the drug.  When we questioned the HSE and the NCPE 
earlier, they were very clear that they took absolutely everything into account in terms of any 
potential savings.  Could the witnesses give us their perspective on whether absolutely every 
saving is in fact taken into account?
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Mr. Lodge spoke about the process and the need for fairness and transparency.  If we were to 
redesign the process we would design a process whereby the people who needed the drugs got 
the drugs but life is not that simple.  In terms of the current process and the constraints under 
which we are operating, do the witnesses have any suggestions about how that can be improved 
specifically to inject some fairness and transparency?

My final question is also for Mr. Lodge.  He spoke about the drugs group meeting recently 
and that Translarna was on the agenda but was not discussed.  Could he give us his view as to 
why that happened?  I will leave it there.  We will take the questions in a batch.  I ask the wit-
nesses to respond and we will come back then to the other members who are indicating.

Mr. Richard Lodge: I am happy to kick off on a couple of those questions.  Deputy Durkan 
asked if there is a better way.  We heard this morning that there has to be a better way and there 
has to be a better process.

One of the issues is the recommendations in 2014 for the promised technical review com-
mittee for orphan drugs.  That touches on the questions from the Vice Chairman also.  I think 
it is three years since that was proposed and nothing has yet happened.  That is not strictly true 
because a chair has been appointed.  To address what we could do better, we could implement 
the recommendations.  It is as simple as that.  To answer the question from the Vice Chairman 
about how I would score the strategy, it would score quite highly.  It is definitely the way to go.  
It is definitely what needs to happen.  Scoring it on implementation is easy.  It is zero, because 
three years later we are not aware of anything that happened.  We were not aware until this 
morning that a chair had been appointed.

I have some experience with the process for oncology.  There is a lot that can be learnt and 
borrowed from the oncology systems.  My biggest concern about the current process relates to 
the delays.  I will ask Ms Kelly to update the committee on some of the delays regarding Trans-
larna in a moment but I must say that communication is a serious concern.  There is a simple 
reason for that.  At present, the drug companies put in applications to have their drugs licensed.  
Therefore, the communication is between those committees and back to the drug companies.  
We are not aware of the mechanisms by means of which patient input or expert clinical opinion 
is fed into that process.  Unfortunately, we are in a situation whereby patients are aware of the 
trials.  They are aware of the drugs that the companies are seeking to be licensed, so they ap-
proach the drug companies directly.  The information the patients receive comes via the drug 
companies, from the HSE, which is not ideal because they will have a completely different 
agenda and the information we receive as patient representatives comes then from the patients 
who met with the drug companies.  There has to be a way of short-circuiting that route and go-
ing directly.

Vice Chairman: I do not want to put words into anyone’s mouth but it was less than an hour 
ago so I think I remember what was said.  The HSE seemed to be indicating that it does listen 
to patients and that patients and advocacy groups have a mechanism for input.

Professor Gerry McElvaney: Unfortunately, the HSE does not listen too much to patient 
groups.  One of the things I really appreciate in being here today is to hear from people.  I echo 
what Deputy Brassil said.  It was an education for us to see democracy in action.  Bureaucracy 
is being held accountable by our public representatives.  It is obvious that things are being said 
here today that we had not been told.  It was out of the blue for us to hear about a decision on 
Respreeza taking three to four weeks.  We have been asking for a timeline for the past three to 
four months.  The Vice Chairman’s about getting a house renovated hit the nail on the head.
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Vice Chairman: I was not trying to compare the two.

Professor Gerry McElvaney: How long is a piece of string?  We were asking for a long 
time.  Our patients are on a one month by one month timeline.  We were asking a very simple 
question, namely, when will we know and we did not get a single answer to that but we have got 
it today.  If we accomplish nothing else today, at least we have accomplished that.

I will turn to Deputy Durkan’s question about short-circuiting the route.  The drugs have 
been approved by the EMA and the US Food and Drug Administration, FDA.  Why are we 
seeking to approve them again?  That does not make any sense whatsoever.  Our role should be 
to find out if we can get a good price for drugs that work.  That is the only question.  The way to 
get a good price is to go in with a European group and use our strength in numbers.  We should 
not go in as a country of 4.5 million, but as a big bloc of 500 million and tell them this is what 
we need.  It is almost intuitive that that is what we should do but we are not doing it.  I do not 
think we got the answers on that today.  We got a lot of obfuscation but no real answers to the 
questions.  To summarise, we should not be reinventing the wheel.  The drugs have been shown 
to act well.  The next question is whether they are worth the price and if we can get the price 
down.  That is where we should focus.

Ms Geraldine Kelly: I would like to make a point on that.  In the context of the NCPE 
seeking additional resources, there is talk about an increase of nine staff.  Those nine people 
will do work that is already being done elsewhere so it does not make sense.  We should put the 
funding somewhere else, into something that is going to help the patients that are suffering from 
muscular dystrophy or alpha-1.  There is a total lack of transparency on where their money is 
being spent by both the NCPE and the HSE.  It is not obvious to any of us where the money is 
going.  I think that is critical in all of this.  Transparency is not there and that must be looked at 
across this whole process.

Ms Clair Kelly: I will refer to Deputy Durkan’s question about the quickest route.  We 
heard much today about Europe and what we can do there.  Ironically, 80% of children in Eu-
rope are receiving this treatment, so we are one of the last to facilitate it.  I can give an example 
of some of the mechanisms and programmes that are out there around Europe.  In England and 
Scotland, they have individual funding requests for treatment and these can be applied for while 
the assessment process is ongoing.  In Italy, they have fast-track mechanisms and in France they 
have authorised temporary use in the case of a condition that is life-threatening or where there 
is no therapeutic alternative.  That is the case for Duchenne muscular dystrophy.  In Sweden, 
county councils can individually reimburse a treatment cost, which is quite different from what 
we do here.  In Germany, there is automatic reimbursement.  There are many examples of the 
different ways and as Professor McElvaney has stated, we do not need to reinvent the wheel.  
These programmes are out there already and we need to look at what fits for us.

Ms Geraldine Kelly: A question was asked about quality of life.  Being faced continuously 
with a deadline on a drug that is allowing a person to live - what we around the table appreci-
ate as normal daily living - is heartbreaking for these patients.  It affects their family lives and 
it affects them financially.  There is the continuous threat of ending up in hospital with a chest 
infection or the possibility of a lung transplant.  It is not something any of us want to face.  The 
threat over the alpha-1 patients is obvious, as it is with other patients suffering from rare dis-
eases who require orphan drugs to help them maintain their lives.

The Health Service Executive or the National Centre for Pharmacoeconomics, NCPE, are 
looking at the effectiveness of a drug and they are concentrating on the cost-effectiveness of a 
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drug rather than whether it is effective for patients.  That has already been proven: 12 countries 
in Europe have approved this and are readily handing it out to patients, and we have already 
proven that it works in Ireland for 21 patients.  We have 40 more and probably ten on top of that 
waiting.  It is a given that this needs to change.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: I just have observations really.  I thank the wit-
nesses for coming here today.  As I said to the previous groups, it is very important to note that 
behind every funding application, there is a life and families, etc., connected to that life.  The 
witnesses know this more than most people.  I am very glad the delegations are here this morn-
ing to see what happens and perhaps it is something we should do in future.  Rather than us 
telling them what happened, it was great they could witness it.

Senator  Colm Burke: I thank the witnesses for the work they do in their individual areas.  
I know they are extremely committed and dedicated to the projects in which they are involved 
and helping patients who have these difficult medical conditions.  For the record, I will correct 
a comment from earlier this morning.  My figures were correct.  My understanding is that of the 
148 orphan drugs, 133 have been approved in Germany, 68 have been approved in England and 
only 53 are currently reimbursed in Ireland.  The HSE indicated my figures were exaggerated 
but they are not.  These are the actual figures from a report I got.  There are 53 reimbursed in 
Ireland, compared with 116 in France, 133 in Germany, 84 in Italy and 75 in Spain.  Those are 
the figures.  The other matter is the timescale.  My understanding of orphan medication is that 
from the date of the initial application to the final HSE decision, it is an average of 23.6 months.  
They are the figures I got from a report I sourced.  In the period 2012 to 2017, some 15 of the 
45 applications made have been successful.

Professor Gerry McElvaney: It is a really important point.  From our studies we know that 
when a person gets emphysema and loses lung tissue, he or she never gets it back.  We have 
done the studies over two years.  If a person is waiting two years to see if a drug is to be ap-
proved, he or she will have irretrievably lost lung tissue.

Senator  Colm Burke: The figure I have is 23.6 months.

Vice Chairman: We could round it up to two years.

Mr. Richard Lodge: It is exactly the same with the children with muscular dystrophy and 
Translarna.  It is about the time.

Vice Chairman: I would imagine it is the same for a range of conditions.

Mr. Richard Lodge: Once they lose the ability to walk, they no longer fit the criteria for 
the original drugs trial.

Senator  Colm Burke: I have a question on the work being done and contacts at European 
level.  I presume there are equivalent organisations supporting patients with the same medical 
conditions at a European level so has there been any contact with them about how they feel 
about joined-up thinking between countries to expedite the process?  I go back to the German 
example.  We are talking about being tied with smaller countries in trying to do deals with phar-
maceutical companies.  My view is we should be tied to bigger countries as we would be in a far 
better position to negotiate.  That is the big concern I have.  As I stated earlier, if there is a drug 
to help 20 people here, in a country the size of the UK or Germany, a far bigger number would 
be involved.  The pharmaceutical companies cannot afford not to do a deal over there.  Have the 
witnesses spoken with comparable organisations in other countries?  There is also the medical 
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connection and there is much contact between medical people involved in these areas.  That 
happens in Ireland, the UK and Germany, for example.  Has there been a sharing of information 
or working together to try to bring about the change being sought?

Professor Gerry McElvaney: Absolutely.  We can look at it in two ways, both in the US 
and the EU.  The United States is different from Europe but there the patient organisation has 
a major role in acting as an intermediary between drug companies and patients.  The drug is 
distributed by the patient organisation, which ensures a good price for the patient.  It is a really 
good example of how patient organisations can take control.

In a European context, it is sad for us that the pivotal study that other European countries 
used to get the drug approved was done mainly in this country.  We had the largest number of 
patients of any country in Europe on that trial.  Our patients ended up not getting the drug but 
organisations in other countries used the trial to get drugs for their patients.  We are perceived 
as being a very strong alpha-1 community in a European context.  We have spoken with col-
leagues but the problem is 12 of them have already bolted the cage as they have the drug.  That 
includes Greece and similar countries that we might see as being in a worse economic position 
than ourselves.  They have the drug and we do not.

The Senator is absolutely right and we should make common cause with European neigh-
bours.  We would be doing so at a remove and as a poor relation for the moment.  They have the 
drug and we do not.  It is a major cause of concern for us.

Vice Chairman: Deputy Durkan and others indicated that it does seem we speak much 
about co-operation at a European level but on this issue there seems to be none.  The witnesses 
were here when we questioned the HSE and I did so myself.  We asked about European stan-
dards and they just do not seem to exist.  It strikes me that it is an area on which we should put 
a heavy focus.

Professor Gerry McElvaney: I do not want to dwell too much on it.  From a diagnostic 
perspective, Ireland is perceived as one of the European leaders and we teach other European 
countries how to diagnose the issue.  We are working closely with European colleagues but our 
colleagues in the HSE do not seem to see this as an option.  I would see it as a suitable option.

Vice Chairman: It should be the first port of call.

Ms Clair Kelly: I will go back to Deputy Brassill’s question, which we did not answer.  The 
NCPE process was probably one of the most transparent elements as it was published.  There 
is a 90-day timeline, albeit with a stop-the-clock element as well.  They have that period within 
which they have to report back.  The problem arises for us when the recommendation leaves 
the NCPE.  There are then no timeframes and there is very little transparency.  There is also no 
direct communication with the HSE.  That is the stage at which we come up against most of the 
problems.  In the case of the NCPE, we do not know what actual studies were reviewed.  While 
the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, NICE, in the United Kingdom has a list 
of every document it has received, the NCPE does not.  There is no record of an entire study 
and it is the same with Respreeza.  We do not know where the study went or if and when it was 
assessed.

As regards the children and clinical trials, we did not have a clinical trial site in Ireland for 
this treatment.  The children have been at a double disadvantage in that they have not had an 
opportunity to take part in a clinical trial and, when trials do come through, they have to wait-
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ing longer.  It is 22 months since the beginning of the NCPE process and three years since the 
EMA approved the drug.  That is a long time in anybody’s life but particularly so in the case of 
a five year-old child.

Mr. Richard Lodge: Let me pick up on another question.  We were asked what drugs we 
were aware of coming through the system.  Ms Kelly has just touched on one of the problems 
in treating rare diseases, namely, that Ireland is small and that as a result the numbers are very 
small.  Until recently we did not have a clinical trial site, although we do now.  Our very real 
concern is that unless we can change the current system to make it easier for the drug companies 
to operate trials in Ireland and have their drugs passed and licensed and because we are dealing 
with such small numbers of orphan drugs and rare diseases, we may get to a stage at which a 
drug company may simply not bother with Ireland or may not be inclined to invest in research 
here to the same level.  Many of the drugs trials about which we are talking simply do not hap-
pen Ireland.  There may be a raft of reasons behind this.

The other point the Vice Chairman made was about the cost of caring for patients.  A study 
in 2014 put the cost of caring 24/7 for a non-ambulatory patient at around €130,000 per year.  
The question was how confident were we that they had taken all costs into account.  We have 
never been told that Translarna failed on a cost basis.  However, we have no idea what costs 
were included.  We would like to think and have to assume all costs were included.  However, 
because there are such gaps in the communication process, we can only assume that they were.

Vice Chairman: That issue is central to both cases.  When we put a straight-up question to 
the HSE such as does it consider everything, it answers yes.  I have met numerous advocacy 
groups, as we all have, and the point keeps being made that if it did actually look at the real 
savings involved, the conclusion could not be anything other than that the drug is cost-effective.  
There is obviously some slippage and if we have done nothing else today, we have managed to 
isolate the fact that a lot of work needs to be done on the process of communication between 
patients, their advocates, the HSE and the NCPE.  The impression was created - I will say no 
more than that - that there was massive communication, but there does not seem to have been 
that much.  The committee will certainly take on board the idea that more needs to be done in 
increasing patient involvement and communication.

Professor Gerry McElvaney: I did not answer one question about companies discontinu-
ing drugs.  It does happen.  When conducting Alpha-1 trials in Ireland, we insist on a patient 
continuing on the drug until a decision is made on reimbursement.  That is the very least com-
panies should do.  The problem for us is that the issue of reimbursement drags on so long.

Senator  Colm Burke: I would like to ask the professor, in particular, about the reason we 
have made so little progress in reducing the overall cost of drugs.  If we were to reduce the 
overall cost - I am talking about straightforward medication - we would obviously have a lot 
more money available for the purchase of orphan drugs.  However, we seem to be purchasing 
a lot more drugs per head of population.  Does Professor McElvaney think we need to do some 
work on that issue to get a message out to the general public?

Professor Gerry McElvaney: I do not think so.  There are ways to get around it.  Purchas-
ing for bigger numbers leads to decreased costs.  We have to control who prescribes drugs.  We 
have to make sure those who prescribe know what they are doing and that it is being kept within 
a well demarcated area.  There also has to be a review of a drug further down the line to see if it 
does what has been said it does.  If not, we need to be prepared to pull it.  There are a few things 
we have to do.  We have to stake a claim that, while we want such drugs, we want them to be 
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effective and that we will take all measures necessary to show that they are effective.

Vice Chairman: On behalf of the committee, I thank Professor McElvaney, Mr. Lodge, Ms 
Geraldine Kelly and Ms Clair Kelly for coming before us and putting their case so eloquently.  I 
am glad that they had the opportunity to listen to the HSE and the NCPE.  It is helpful for those 
who are advocates who are welcome to attend public sessions of the committee at any time to 
see that when representatives of the HSE and NCPE come before us, we do attempt to hold 
them to account and ask the important questions.

The joint committee adjourned at 12.20 p.m. until 11 a.m. on Wednesday, 20 September 
2017.


